Public Document Pack

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Thursday, 18 November 2021 at 6.00 pm
Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Silver Street,
Enfield, EN1 3XA

Contact: Stacey Gilmour
Governance Officer
Direct: 020-8132 1383
Tel: 020-8379-1000
E-mail: stacey.gilmour@enfield.gov.uk
Council website: www.enfield.gov.uk

Councillors : Susan Erbil (Chair), Margaret Greer (Vice-Chair), Lee David-Sanders,
Birsen Demirel, Mahmut Aksanoglu, Elif Erbil, James Hockney and Derek Levy

Education Statutory Co-optees: 1 vacancy (Church of England diocese
representative), vacancy (other faiths/denominations representative), Tony Murphy
(Catholic diocese representative), Alicia Meniru & 1 vacancy (Parent Governor
Representative).
Enfield Youth Parliament Co-optees (2)
Stacey Gilmour (Governance Officer)
AGENDA – PART 1
1.

WELCOME & APOLOGIES

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members of the Council are invited to identify any disclosable pecuniary,
other pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests relevant to the items on the
agenda.

3.

CALL-IN: LEASING OF WHITEWEBBS PARK GOLF COURSE (Pages 1 240)
To review the Portfolio decision taken on 22 October 2021 as a result of the
matter having been Called-in.
(This item contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3
(information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person – including the authority holding that information) of Schedule 12A to
the Local Government Act 1972, as amended).

4.

RESPONSE TO REASONS FOR CALL-IN: LEASING OF WHITEWEBBS
PARK GOLF COURSE (Pages 241 - 246)
To receive the response to the reasons for Call-In: Leasing of Whitewebbs

Park Golf Course.
5.

DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS
Business Meeting
Thursday 25 November 2021
Business Meeting
Wednesday 1 December 2021
Budget Meeting
Thursday 16 December 2021

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

London Borough of Enfield
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Meeting Date 18 November 2021

Subject:

Call in – Leasing of Whitewebbs Park Golf Course

Cabinet Member:

N/A

Key Decision:

N/A

Purpose of Report
1. This report details a call-in submitted in relation to the following decision:
Portfolio decision (taken on 22 October 2021). This has been “Called In” by
7 members of the Council; Councillors Maria Alexandrou, Joanne Laban,
Andrew Thorp, Glynis Vince, Lindsay Rawlings, Edward Smith and Jim
Steven.
Details of this decision were included on Publication of Decision List No.
30/21-22 (Ref. 3/30/21-22 – issued on 22 October 2021).
In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Overview and Scrutiny
Committee is asked to consider the decision that has been called-in for
review.
Proposal(s)
2. That Overview and Scrutiny Committee considers the called-in decision and
either:
(a)

Refers the decision back to the decision-making person or body
for reconsideration setting out in writing the nature of its
concerns. The decision-making person or body then has 14
working days in which to reconsider the decision; or

(b)

Refer the matter to full Council; or

(c)

Confirm the original decision.

Once the Committee has considered the called-in decision and makes
one of the recommendations listed at (a), (b) or (c) above, the call-in
process is completed. A decision cannot be called in more than once.
If a decision is referred back to the decision-making person or body; the
implementation of that decision shall be suspended until such time as the
decision making person or body reconsiders and either amends or confirms
the decision, but the outcome on the decision should be reached within 14

Page 2
working days of the reference back. The Committee will subsequently be
informed of the outcome of any such decision
Relevance to the Council’s Plan
3. The council’s values are upheld through open and transparent decision
making and holding decision makers to account.
Background
4. The request (29 October 2021) to “call-in” the Portfolio decision of
30 September 2021 was submitted under rule 18 of the Scrutiny Procedure
Rules. It was considered by the Monitoring Officer.
The Call-in request fulfilled the required criteria and the decision is referred to
the Overview & Scrutiny Committee in order to consider the actions stated
under 2 in the report.
Implementation of the Portfolio decision related to this report will be
suspended whilst the “Call-in” is considered.
Reasons and alternative course of action proposed for the “Call in”
5. The Call-in request submitted by (7) Members of the Council gives the
following reasons for Call-In:


Lack of consultation
There has been a total lack of Stakeholder consultation. Residents and
site users have been consistent in their opposition to these plans. There
have been protests, petitions and detailed submissions. Stakeholders
were promised sight of the final bids as part of the engagement process,
this has not happened.



Delegated authority
Point 3 – “To delegate authority to the Director of Property & Economy in
consultation with the Director of Legal and Governance to make minor
amendments to the heads of terms and to finalise the Agreement for
Lease, Lease and associated documents, including such variations that
may be necessary to cover existing third-party rights affecting the site.”
There are no details in the report of what might be covered by this
statement, what would be considered a minor adjustment and what would
be a major one?



Local economy and employment
Point 17- “potentially create a boost to the local economy and local
employment.” Why only potentially if they are having an academy for
grounds staff. Should they not, like other sites, be pushed towards
employing local people.

Page 3


Greenbelt Protection
Point 18 - The property’s location in the Green Belt provides significant
protection against inappropriate development. The existing Tottenham
Hotspur site sits entirely in Greenbelt and has been extended and
amended over the years with inappropriate development.



Variety of Activity
Point 28 - Paragraph 3 states “Range of activities - There are already a
range of existing leisure uses at the property, predominantly with the pay
and play golf course. LBE is seeking a tenant who provides a business
plan that incorporates a range of activities. Some potential activities
suggested by the local community are included later in this
documentation. Within the leisure proposals, LBE require applicants to
demonstrate how the proposed activities will be open to a range of users.”
This proposal focusses only on one activity – football and furthermore it
will be a single sex provision.



Poor financial offering
Only 35% of the scoring of bids related to the rent or premium offered.
Yet, repeatedly financial implications have been cited as the main driver
for looking to lease out the site. This proposal will only deliver an initial
premium of £500,000 followed by an annual rental from year 6-25 of
£75,000 per annum. I note the rent will be reviewed every 5 years against
CPI, however the total rent received will only be circa £2,000,000 for the
whole 25 year period. This is hugely undervaluing the site. Furthermore,
the proposal doesn’t specifically say that the up-front money is ring fenced
for improvements to Whitewebbs.



Impact on Covid-19 on the bidding process
Bids were accepted in March 2020, scoring undertaken on 16th March
2020, with the intention of a preferred bidder being announced in April
2020. By the councils own admission the announcement was delayed by
more than a year due to the impact of the pandemic. In this period the
economy and the retail, hospitality and leisure industry has changed. The
report does not address this in any way.



Golf Course closed before the season so there are no contemporary
financials
The decision making has taken place referencing pre-pandemic financials
for the golf course. The golf course was closed prior to the lifting of
restrictions earlier this year. Since restrictions have been lifted golf has
seen a boom in popularity, this will fundamentally have changed the
financial prospects of the golf course. For this reason, it is inappropriate
for now out of date financial results to guide decision making.



Natural rewilding so stated costs are no longer valid

Page 4
Since the golf course has been closed the site has re-wilded itself and the
council is no long incurring the maintenance costs used as justification for
leasing it out. Therefore, the bidding and decision-making process used
for this report is fundamentally unsound.


Reduced public access
Marketing of Whitewebbs Public Golf Course (WPGC) - point 28
paragraph 1 – London Borough of Enfield (LBE) seeking a proposal that
will, at a minimum, retain this level of public access. This is clearly not the
case as areas of the park that are currently open to public access are
planned to be turned into a private training facility. Documents use the
term “Golf Course” and “Golf Club” interchangeably. This gives the
impression that the area could only be accessed by club members, this is
fundamentally not the case. The course was used by thousands of people
on a non-membership basis and also for non-golf related activity e.g.
running and dog walking.



Lack of pedigree for managing facilities
Tottenham Hotspur were given the maximum possible score for leisure
experience. However, a large proportion of the plan involves woods and
parklands. Tottenham Hotspur have minimal experience managing woods
and parklands, therefore it is difficult to understand how they received the
maximum score. In addition, Tottenham’s most recent development, ‘The
Tottenham Hotspur Stadium’ suffered from huge delays and cost
overruns.



No detail of community access
In several sections of the bid community access to the new facilities has
been referenced, but this is not defined.



Environmental Impact
Lots of information on improvements, but nothing on exactly what work is
needed to put in fencing, artificial and grass pitches. Will there be
importation of soil, will there be a need for parking and paths on site such
as hard surfaces. If so, this should be included in environmental impact.
Point 80 – “In order for the proposed football academy to obtain planning
permission, under current adopted planning policies an application will be
expected to demonstrate that the proposal has a minimal environmental
impact, in both construction and operational stages.” What standard
constitutes ‘minimal environmental impact’? This should be defined.



Poor history of honouring commitments with the Council
Enfield is still waiting for nature reserve which was in their original training
ground planning application. How can we be sure that all the work they
are saying they would do will actually be undertaken?



Equality

Page 5

The plan states that a women’s football academy is of benefit to all.
However, the plans provide no benefits for boys and men. It is also not
clear how it benefits the residents of Enfield as beneficiaries will be draw
from a wide geographical area.


Conflict of interest
On three occasions in the last two years Members of the Council have
received hospitality from Tottenham Hotspur Football Club. The Leader –
Cllr Caliskan had lunch at the training ground on 13th February 2020 and 6
days later accepted match tickets. This gift was accepted just 17 days
before the deadline (2nd March 2020) for bidders to make final
submissions.

Consideration of the “Call in”
6. Having met the “Call-in” request criteria, the matter is referred to the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in order to determine the “Call-in” and
decide which action listed under section 2 that they will take.
The following procedure is to be followed for consideration of the “Call-in”:
 The Chair explains the purpose of the meeting and the decisions which
the Committee is able to take.
 The Call-in lead presents their case, outlining the reasons for call in.
 The Cabinet Member/ Decision maker and officers respond to the
points made.
 General debate during which Committee members may ask questions
of both parties with a view to helping them make up their mind.
 The Call in Lead sums up their case.
 The Chair identifies the key issues arising out of the debate and calls
for a vote after which the call in is concluded. If there are equal
numbers of votes for and against, the Chair will have a second or
casting vote.
 It is open to the Committee to either;
o take no further action and therefore confirm the original decision
o to refer the matter back to Cabinet -with issues (to be detailed in
the minute) for Cabinet to consider before taking its final
decision.
o to refer the matter to full Council for a wider debate (NB: full
Council may decide either to take no further action or to refer
the matter back to Cabinet with specific recommendations for
them to consider prior to decision taking)
Main Considerations for the Council
7. To comply with the requirements of the Council’s Constitution, scrutiny is
essential to good governance, and enables the voice and concerns of
residents and communities to be heard and provides positive challenge and
accountability.

Page 6
Safeguarding Implications
8. There are no safeguarding implications.
Public Health Implications
9. There are no public health implications.
Equalities Impact of the Proposal
10. There are no equality implications.
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations
11. There are no environmental and climate change considerations.
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken
12. There are no key risks associated with this report.
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will
be taken to manage these risks
13. There are no key risks associated with this report.
Financial Implications
14. There are no financial implications
Legal Implications
15. S 21, S 21A-21C Local Government Act 2000, s.19 Police and Justice Act
2006 and regulations made under s.21E Local Government Act 2000 define
the functions of the Overview and Scrutiny committee. The functions of the
committee include the ability to consider, under the call-in process,
decisions of Cabinet, Cabinet Sub-Committees, individual Cabinet Members
or of officers under delegated authority.
Part 4, Section 18 of the Council’s Constitution sets out the procedure for
call-in. Overview and Scrutiny Committee, having considered the decision
may: refer it back to the decision-making person or body for
reconsideration; refer to full Council or confirm the original decision.
The Constitution also sets out at section 18.2, decisions that are exceptions
to the call-in process.
Workforce Implications
16. There are no workforce implications

Page 7
Property Implications
17. There are no property implications
Other Implications
18. There are no other implications
Options Considered
19. Under the terms of the call-in procedure within the Council’s Constitution,
Overview & Scrutiny Committee is required to consider any eligible decision
called-in for review. The alternative options available to Overview & Scrutiny
Committee under the Council’s Constitution, when considering any call-in,
have been detailed in section 2 above
Conclusions
20. The Committee following debate at the meeting will resolve to take one of
the actions listed under section 2 and the item will then be concluded.
Report Author:
Email:
Tel No.

Stacey Gilmour
Governance Officer
Stacey.gilmour@enfield.gov.uk
020 8132 1383

Date of report

10 November 2021

Appendices
Portfolio Report including appendices
Response to Call in reasons
Background Papers
The following documents have been relied on in the preparation of this report:
None

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 9
Please note Part 2 report is now confidential appendix.

London Borough of Enfield
Portfolio Report
Date:

30 September 2021

Report of:

Mark Bradbury – Director of Property & Economy

Subject:

Leasing of Whitewebbs Park Golf Course

Cabinet Member:

Cllr Caliskan – Leader of the Council

Executive Director: Sarah Cary - Place
Ward:

Chase

Key Decision:

KD5177

Purpose of Report
1.

This report details the marketing and evaluation process for the leasing
of Whitewebbs Park and Golf Course (WPGC) and proposes the approval
of an Agreement for Lease to the preferred bidder Tottenham Hotspur Ltd
(THL) and subject to planning, grant of Lease.

Proposal
2.

To approve entering into an Agreement for Lease based on the heads of
terms attached to the Confidential Appendix and subject to planning
permission for the proposed use, the granting of a 25-year Lease for the
area shown edged blue on the attached plan to THL.

3.

To delegate authority to the Director of Property & Economy in
consultation with the Director of Legal and Governance to make minor
amendments to the heads of terms and to finalise the Agreement for
Lease, Lease and associated documents, including such variations that
may be necessary to cover existing third-party rights affecting the site.

4.

Note that all agreements to be entered into as contemplated by this report
are to be approved in advance of commencement by Legal Services on
behalf of the Director of Law and Governance.

PL 21.047 P

Page 10
Reasons for Proposals
5.

Following an extensive two stage marketing process THL’s submission
achieved the highest evaluation score. The bid was underpinned by a
masterplan which set out how the Council’s objectives as set out during
the marketing process would be achieved across the WPGC site.

6.

The proposal would see part of the leased site used as a football academy
and it is proposed that the remainder of the golf course area would be
transformed to parkland with enhanced open access provided to all park
users.

7.

The proposal excludes the majority of Whitewebbs Wood and part of the
golf course to the south of the woods. These areas will not be included in
the leased area and will continue to be managed by the Council.

8.

The following is a summary of the proposed improvement works to be
carried out under the terms of the lease:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Creation of an Academy for Women’s and Girls' Football;
Refurbishment and extension of the Northern Clubhouse to create
an education centre for Women’s and Girls' Football;
Reinstatement of parkland on the southern part of the golf course:
Tree surveys, habitat survey, hydrological survey and woodland
management survey;
Improvements to Southern Clubhouse and car park to incorporate
a new visitor centre, café and WCs and improved public car
parking;
Expansion of a THFC Turf Academy, training the next generation
of ground staff and greenkeepers in conjunction with other leading
sports venues;

9.

The proposal bid also outlined the provision of grassroots and community
football coaching and other community engagement.

10.

In addition to a rental income, the proposal will see an initial capital receipt
or premium to the Council to facilitate investment in improving footpaths
and bridleways in Whitewebbs Woods and around the site.

11.

There will also be a commitment by the Council to invest in grass roots
football in more deprived areas of the borough.

12.

A lease will not be entered into unless and until planning consent is granted
for the proposals, with works to be completed in accordance with planning
permission and building regulations consent.

Summary
13.

The detailed bid submitted by THL achieved the highest evaluation score,
and will deliver an initial capital sum and an annual rental income for the
Authority from year 5 onwards which represents best consideration
reasonably obtainable

PL 21.047 P

Page 11

14.

The THL proposal clearly understood and detailed how each use supported
the Councils vision for WPGC.

Relevance to the Council’s Corporate Plan
Good homes in well-connected neighbourhoods
15.

The granting of the proposed lease for WPGC will support well-connected
neighbourhoods within Enfield, by creating a site with wider recreational
and leisure activities, improved facilities and increased accessible
parkland. No homes will be built through this lease and investment into
WPGC.

Sustain strong and healthy communities
16.

The proposed investment in WPGC, will create improved recreational and
leisure facilities within the borough, with significant ecological
enhancement within the park. It is anticipated that this will create a safe
and enjoyable meeting point for adults and children, whilst providing all
year-round leisure activities in the local neighbourhood and increase the
footfall across the sites.

Build our local economy to create a thriving place
17.

The award of the lease will generate a capital sum for investment in the
park, create a lease income, and potentially create a boost to the local
economy and local employment.

Background
18.

WPGC is located at the northern border of Enfield and is a 241 acres site,
including the site of the former 18-hole golf course. The golf course was
closed in March 2021. The site has two basic club houses, (one of which
is considered dilapidated) and a mobile catering concession. The
property’s location in the Green Belt provides significant protection against
inappropriate development.

19.

In addition to the golf course WPGC includes Whitewebbs Woods and
areas of parkland. Whitewebbs Woods is deemed ancient woodland and is
classed as a Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation.

20.

For many years WPGC was run at a cost to the Authority. During this time,
significant measures were taken to improve the online profile and
accessibility for the golf course and new marketing campaigns have been
undertaken. Despite these measures, the number of rounds of golf played
and annual income fell over time. In January 2021, the golf course was
closed due to the Covid-19 pandemic. In March 2021, Portfolio Decision
KD5177 - PL 20.087 P was taken for the golf course to close permanently
with immediate effect.

PL 21.047 P

Page 12
21.

Whitewebbs House is located within the grounds of the WPGC site and is
not affected by this proposal. Whitewebbs House is leased to Whitbread
PLC (since assigned to Mitchells & Butler Retail Ltd) and operates as a
Toby Carvery. The site is leased for 99 years from 29 September 1997.

22.

Also located within the grounds, is a residential property known as The
Limes, as well as an electricity substation. The house is privately owned
but part of the grounds are subject to a lease from the Council. The
substation is subject to a lease. Neither is affected by this proposal.

23.

As a result of a condition in the lease of Whitewebbs House, there is a
restriction on the selling of alcohol, food and drink across the majority of
the remainder of the WPGC site.

Marketing of WPGC
24.

In March 2019, Portfolio Decision KD4849, gave authority for the marketing
of WPGC, taking a flexible approach in order achieve a sustainable future
that optimised delivery of the Council’s Corporate Objectives.

25.

On 11 April 2019, the Overview & Scrutiny Committee agreed to confirm
the Portfolio decision. Knight Frank were appointed as agents to market
the property on behalf of the Council.

26.

The marketing was split into two phases. Phase 1 was open to any party
to submit an expression of interest (EOI). Phase 1 ran from 2 August 2019
to 31 October 2019. Bidders were required to submit their EOI proposals,
based on a 25-year lease, providing details of the proposed use and how
it supported the Council’s outlined vision. Interested parties were provided
the option to include the entirety of the WPGC site in their bids, or specific
parts of the site.

27.

Prior to the marketing of Whitewebbs Park, the Council engaged directly
with stakeholders of the park, to inform them of the Councils plans to
market the site and to engage them in setting the marketing criteria. The
stakeholders engaged by the Authority at that stage were:
•
•
•
•
•
•

28.

Ward Councillors
The Friends of Whitewebbs Park
The Friends of Hilly Fields
The Greenbelt Forum
Whitewebbs Golf Club
Whitewebbs Golf Course Users

Council officers prepared a vision document which outlined the Authority’s
objectives for the leasing of the site which was included in the marketing
material. Stakeholders helped officers develop the stated ambitions and
the scoring criteria for the bid assessment. The following were the key
criteria: -

PL 21.047 P

Page 13
• Retention or enhancement of public access - There are a number
of footpaths and permissive footpaths running through the
property, mostly through the woodland area. LB Enfield (LBE) is
seeking a proposal that will, at a minimum, retain this level of
public access. The maintenance of these permissive paths will be
the responsibility of the tenant.
• Maintenance of woodland and open areas - The existing
woodland, and golf course, provides an important habitat and
open space for wildlife and local residents. Applicants are asked
to demonstrate how these areas will be maintained, and
potentially enhanced, to improve biodiversity through further
planting or more active management of the wood and grassland
areas included within any proposal.
• Range of activities - There are already a range of existing leisure
uses at the property, predominantly with the pay and play golf
course. LBE is seeking a tenant who provides a business plan
that incorporates a range of activities. Some potential activities
suggested by the local community are included later in this
documentation. Within the leisure proposals, LBE require
applicants to demonstrate how the proposed activities will be
open to a range of users.
• Provision of refreshments and welfare facilities - At present there
is a mobile café serving refreshments at the southern clubhouse.
In addition, there are some welfare facilities at the northern
clubhouse. All submissions must demonstrate how the availability
of refreshments and welfare facilities will be provided to visitors
to the park and golf course.
• Community Engagement - LBE wishes to see continuing positive
community engagement between local stakeholders and
community groups and new tenants. All submissions should
describe their approach to local community engagement.
29.

By 31 October 2019, 18 EOIs were registered with the Council’s agents,
Knight Frank.

30.

Following the receipt of the EOIs, independent planning advice was sought
by LBE for each proposed use.

31.

Before launching the Phase 2, the marketing information and requirements
for bidders were enhanced, based on the proposed planning use appraisal
and taking into account stakeholder and public feedback. In Phase 2
bidders were required to demonstrate how the following updated objectives
would be met within their bid submission:
• Enhancement of Public Access - LBE is seeking a proposal that
will enhance the existing level of public access and maintain all
current public rights of way going forward.

PL 21.047 P

Page 14
• Community Engagement - all bids should detail how the proposed
tenant proposes to engage with the community and stakeholders.
LBE wish the applicant to provide a comprehensive
communication plan which, as a minimum, should include details
of using social media and a website to provide details of their
plans for Whitewebbs and provide updates (in partnership with
LBE). The new tenant will be required to provide digital and
traditional platforms for engagement with the local community
that allows for feedback.
• Maintenance of Woodland & Open Areas - the property provides
an important habitat and open space for wildlife and local
residents. Applicants must explain how these areas will be
enhanced and managed in their proposals, detailing clearly
where there will be improvements.
• Range of Activities - the acceptable proposed use must be
outdoor leisure or sport led. Proposals with no element of outdoor
leisure use will not be considered.
• Provision of Refreshments and Welfare Facilities - all
submissions must include provision of refreshment and welfare
facilities to all users of the park, not just users of the proposal.
32.

Phase 2 of the marketing of WPGC launched on 19 December 2019 and
was limited to those parties that had previously registered an EOI. Bidders
were notified of five qualifying bid requirements, as follows: • Maximum lease term of 25 years, to be contracted out of Sections
24-28 of Landlord & Tenant Act 1954 and therefore giving no
automatic right to renewal;
• The acceptable proposed use must be outdoor leisure or sport
led. Proposals with no element of leisure use would not be
considered;
• All bidders were required to submit a pre-application planning
advice request by 27 January 2020, the outcome of the pre-app
advice will form a key part of the evaluation;
• Any bids that included importation of material for landscaping
were required to demonstrate that the importation was essential
for a viable leisure/sport led business following completion of the
importation;
• The preferred bidder(s) would be required to engage with the
public once selected and bids must provide a comprehensive
communication plan.

33.

Bidders were notified that all qualifying bids were to be submitted by 2
March 2020 and would be evaluated by a panel of appropriately qualified
council officers, using a predetermined scoring matrix. The scoring matrix
set out the five following scoring categories and score weightings:
• Meeting the Council's Objectives – 30%

PL 21.047 P

Page 15
•
•
•
•
34.

Pre-application Planning Advice – 10%
The applicant's experience in comparable leisure uses – 10%
The Applicant's Financial Standing and Business Plan – 15%
Rent/Premium Offered – 35%

6 compliant submissions were received and were put forward for
assessment and scoring. The following is a summary of the submitted
compliant bids:

Bidder
Bidder A
Bidder B

Bidder C

THL

Bidder E
Bidder F

Proposed Use
Use of Whitewebbs for rewilding, educational,
livestock and community use
Redesigned golf course including substantial
imported material for landscaping, alongside
other leisure uses both paid for and free of charge
- including dog agility, community hub, drone
flying, fishing, team activity events
Modern driving range with large Food and Drinks
offering, plus an adventure golf course, reduced
golf course with substantial imported material for
landscaping
Use of part of the golf course for football pitches
for women’s football; rewilding and return of part
of the site to parkland plus development of a
community hub including café and welfare
provisions.
Wildlife visitor and educational centre and
rewilding of Whitewebbs
Development of a sizeable events venue,
reconfigured golf course and community park.

Bid Evaluations
35.

Bid assessment and scoring was undertaken on 16 March 2020. The
process was observed by an officer from Legal Services to ensure the
process was correct and compliant. The evaluation panel was made up of
Officers from the following departments from across the Council together
with a Senior representative from Knight Frank: •
•
•
•
•
•
•

36.

Strategic Property Services,
Commercial Services,
Planning Services,
Finance,
Sports & Leisure,
Parks,
Watercourses,

The following table provides a summary of the total scoring for the final
bids:

PL 21.047 P

Page 16

Bidder

Leisure
Experience
(10%)

Rental
Offer
(35%)

Bidder A
Bidder B
Bidder C
THL
Bidder E
Bidder F

7.5
2.5
2.5
10
10
2.5

0
17.5
35
14
6.713
16.8

Business Plan
&
Financial
Standing
(15%)
7.5
7.5
3.75
11.25
7.5
3.75

Pre-App
Planning
Advice
(10%)
10
5
2.5
7.5
2.5
2.5

Meeting
Councils
Objectives
(30%)
22.5
15
7.5
22.5
22.5
7.5

Final
Score

47.5
47.5
51.25
65.25
49.213
33.05

COVID 19
37.

Shortly after the bid evaluation the Global economy was affected by the
Covid 19 pandemic. All bidders were contacted by Knight Frank on 27
March 2020, providing 14 days to bidders to notify Knight Frank of any
required revisions to submitted bids. On 10 April, Knight Frank confirmed
to the council that Bidder E’s bid had been withdrawn, but no other bids
had been withdrawn or revised.

38.

The marketing process was then put on hold whilst the Council prioritised
its response to the pandemic

THL’S Proposal
39.

THL’s proposal details 4 different zones within the park as follows: -

Area 1
The majority of Whitewebbs Wood (and the area of the golf course to the
south of the woods see area 3) will not be included within the lease area
and to a large degree, this area will remain as it is.

PL 21.047 P

Page 17
The Council’s focus would be on enhancing the ecological, accessibility
and recreational value of these 50 Ha, albeit with continuation of less
intrusive recreational activities, such as walking, running, cycling and horse
riding.
The area will continue to be managed by the Local Authority, who will
undertake infrastructure improvements, funded from a capital premium
from the lease agreement. The schedule of improvements is to be finalised
following surveys and further discussion with the planning authority but
could include the following works:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bridleway and footpath improvements
Boundary and knee rail installation and improvements
Interpretation boards and signage
Improved DDA Access
More seating and bin installation
Natural flood management by way of native tree planting
CCTV at entry points

Area 2
Much of the remaining area of the former golf course would be largely
returned to parkland, based on the 19th century layout. This area will be
included within the lease but will be fully accessible by the public. Inclusion
within the lease allows the works to be carried out by THL at their cost and
for the park to be maintained by THL during the 25-year term of the lease.
Area 3
Would see an enhanced riparian (waterside) landscape around Cuffley
Brook, providing a valuable ecological link to the south of Whitewebbs
Wood. This area is excluded from the proposed lease and will be retained
and maintained by the Council with open public access.
Area 4
THL propose five to six natural (grass) pitches and two artificial pitches.
These would be located at the northern end of the golf course site. Each
pitch would be surrounded by biodiverse wildflower meadows and
enhanced by extensive tree planting. Pitches would be used for women
and girls’ football. The use will include the provision of grassroots and
community coaching details of which will be set out in the agreement for
lease and lease.
The Northern Clubhouse would be retained, renovated and extended to
provide built accommodation for the proposed football academy for women
and girls.
In addition to providing use specifically for female grassroots and
community football development through the Club’s charitable Foundation
and Global Coaching teams, the facility will also enable the Club to

PL 21.047 P

Page 18
enhance its offer to schools more generally using classroom space and
access to elite pitches.
This area is to be included in the proposed lease to THL.
Area 5
At the northern end of the site it is proposed to link Whitewebbs Wood with
the proposed new nature reserve at Dickenson’s Meadow to the east via
an enhanced wildlife corridor.
This area is to be included in the proposed lease to THL.
Area 6
The Southern Clubhouse would be converted or redeveloped into an
upgraded café and visitor centre with toilet facilities with the adjacent car
parking improved and retained for public use.
This area is to be included in the proposed lease to THL
Private Dwelling
There is a privately-owned dwelling to the north of the golf course within
WPGC. This is not subject to these proposals.
Whitewebbs House
As set out above Whitewebbs House is the subject of an existing lease, is
not subject to these proposals and will continue to be operated as a
carvery.
Substation
The substation is subject to an existing lease and is not subject to these
proposals.

40.

THL detailed their experience of operating within the leisure & sports
industry for 138 years. It was noted by the evaluating panel that they were
extremely experienced in operating a public facing facility, through their
football stadium in Haringey, which includes pitch maintenance and
facilitating public visitors and customer experiences.

41.

As part of the bidder assessments, credit checks were undertaken for all
bidders. The Equifax analysis report for THL confirmed their strong
financial standing. A further credit check of THL was undertaken in
November 2020, which confirmed that analysis of their financial position
remains unchanged.

42.

As part of the submission requirements, THL obtained pre- planning advice
from the Local Planning Authority. Although it was noted that further detail

PL 21.047 P

Page 19
would be required for a full assessment, the initial feedback was
favourable.
43.

THL proposals demonstrated a clear understanding of the Council’s
objectives for WPGC including a developed plan for how each of the five
objectives would be delivered. The following is a summary of the submitted
responses for each objective:
A.

Enhanced Public Access

The former golf course was only accessible to golfers on payment of a
membership fee or pay and play green fees. There was no public right
of access to the majority of the course with access only via the public
rights of way or permissive paths.
THL’s bid proposes to replace the golf course at WPGC with a football
academy to the north and the creation of additional open parkland to
the south.
The proposed change of use of part of the golf course to parkland will
create an additional 20 hectares of usable green and open space for
all members of the public. It is proposed that this area will be laid out
in a way that reflects the 19th century layout but unlike that time when
it was part of a private estate this will be open and freely accessible to
the public. The cost of landscaping and ongoing maintenance will sit
with THL.
In addition to an annual rental, a premium will be paid which will finance
improvements to be made to the infrastructure of the park area, outside
of the proposed lease area, which will improve access and
accessibility.
B.

Community Engagement

A detailed community engagement and communications programme
was submitted, including both digital and traditional communications.
THL committed that: If selected to take on the lease, through the planning process, maintain
an open dialogue with stakeholders through planning, construction and
throughout operation of the new facilities.
C.

Maintenance of Woodland & Open Areas

Exclusion of the woods from the lease but with investment in
improvements to paths and bridleways through the provision of a
capital sum from the lease will ensure that these areas remain open
and accessible to the public.
The proposal includes a scheme of re-wilding including tree planting of
an area of circa 11.13 hectares of the riparian (waterside) habitat
around Cuffley Brook.

PL 21.047 P

Page 20

This area will be outside of the leased area and will be maintained by
Enfield Council.
The landscape proposals for the new parkland to be created across
the southern portion of the golf course include new native specimen
tree planting within park locations and expansive hay meadow
creation, maintaining a network of mown paths to provide a series of
walks through the parkland. As stated above this area will be
maintained by THL but open to the public.
The proposed lease boundary is outlined in blue on the plan below: -

The proposed lease boundary includes the access roads at the north
and south of the site. The intention is for the access road at the north
of the site to be maintained by THL with access for the Council, the
public, Whitewebbs House, the Limes and users and invitees of
Whitewebbs House and the Limes. The access road at the South will
also be maintained by THL with access for the Council and Public.
D.

Range of Activities

The submission confirmed that a variety of activities would be available
to the public. These would include:
•
•

PL 21.047 P

Provision of grassroots and community coaching,
Sporting competitions,

Page 21
•
•
•
•
•

Guided trails,
Seasonal wildlife events,
Children’s events with potential links to local schools,
Cycling with additional cycle tracks,
Improved horse-riding provisions.

E.

Provision of Refreshments and Welfare Facilities

THL’s bid included the enhancement of public welfare facilities by
developing the Southern Clubhouse to include an enlarged café offer,
improved public toilets and a visitor centre together with improvements
to public car parking.

44.

Following the announcement of THL as the highest scoring bidder on 8th
June 2021, the Council has provided Stakeholders with details of the
proposals and invited them to comment by mid July. It has published
details on its website and allowed time for stakeholders and the public to
respond before making this decision.

45.

The following stakeholders have responded: Herts Wildlife Trust
Have asked that when a planning application is submitted, they will expect
the proposal to deliver a biodiversity net gain.
Friends of Whitewebbs Park
Have arranged a public event and supplied a letter to the council stated to
have been signed by 164 people opposing the bid, setting out concerns
that they have not been properly consulted with; expressing concern that
the park will become a private estate and requesting further consultation
with stakeholders to inform an alternative proposal for the park.
Other correspondence
The CPRE have written expressing a number of concerns around the use
of the land and compliance with Green Belt and Planning policy. These will
be addressed through the planning process.
Around 30 people have written individually expressing concerns regarding
the proposal. These concerns raised are either addressed in this report or
will be addressed in pre planning application consultation and through the
planning process.

Petition
46.

In December 2019, a petition titled ‘Whitewebbs Park’ was lodged with the
Authority. The petition ran on the Enfield Council website from 20
December 2019 until 31 January 2020. The petition stated:

PL 21.047 P

Page 22
We the undersigned petition the Council to
1.

Call upon the Council to avoid any measures or developments that
will in any way restrict the citizens of Enfield from freely enjoying full
access to the woodlands, amenities, current physical activities, golf
and the open spaces of Whitewebbs Park.

2.

Ask that the Council restrict developments and landholding in the
park to those that will maintain full use of the park by ordinary citizens
and to those that will not damage or radically change the
atmosphere, usage and environment of the park.

3.

Ask that no development will be permitted that will have an adverse
effect on the climate and air quality of Enfield through construction
work and traffic generation.

4.

Ask that nothing be done that will adversely affect the ancient
woodland and biodiversity of the whole park.

5.

Ask that there be full public consultation with all interested park users
before any proposals are agreed and implemented

47.

At the closure of the electronic petition, on 31 January 2020, 3,464 people
had signed the petition. It was presented to Council for consideration on
26 February 2020 and Council referred the petition was referred to the
Councils Executive Director for Place for consideration.

48.

The following responses to the petition are provided in relation to the
preferred bidder:

49.

THL’s proposal will offer a wider and more inclusive benefit to the local
community, in line with planning policies and that met with the Council’s
visions for the site.

50.

THL’s proposal includes increased and improved access across the park,
an additional 3km of bridle and cycle ways, and an increased area of open
access by reverting part of the golf course to parkland. The submission
also included an improved café and welfare facilities, maintenance of
green spaces and woodland, improvement of biodiversity within the park
and an extensive community engagement and communications
programme.

51.

The Council’s aim in leasing Whitewebbs Park Golf Course is for the park
to be used in a way that benefits the wider local community.

52.

In response to feedback from residents, the requirements were
strengthened for the second marketing stage, to ensure public access and
facilities would be enhanced and the valued green space and woodland at
Whitewebbs protected via both the bid evaluation and planning process.

53.

THL’s submission sets out significant improvements to the facilities for
park users. The proposals will see the publicly accessible park area

PL 21.047 P

Page 23
extended and returned to historic parkland. Most of the woodlands and an
area to the south of the woods will be excluded from the lease and
maintained by the Council with investment in improved access, rewilding
and increased biodiversity. As part of the proposals, community access to
sports pitches will be provided and will be formalised with the lease
agreement.
54.

The submission sets out proposed improvements to existing public and
permissive rights of way to improve public accessibility and enjoyment of
an improved recreational facility.

55.

Any development of WPGC will be subject to planning permission and will
need to comply with national and local planning polices, which seek to
protect green and open spaces. THL’s planning applications will need to
demonstrate that the proposed scheme, including during any required
construction phase, will not have an unacceptable environmental or
ecological impact.

56.

It is anticipated that the proposed investment in biodiversity at WPGC,
along with the return of a significant part of the park to historic parkland,
will assist in improving air quality and support the council’s commitment to
combat climate change. The landscape proposals include new native
specimen tree planting within historic parkland locations and expansive
meadow creation.

57.

Whitewebbs Wood is classed as Ancient Woodland as well as a Site of
Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation. This was noted within
the marketing particulars.

58.

Ancient woodlands require special consideration when they are affected
by planning applications. The National Planning Policy Framework
published in 2012 is the government policy document relating to planning
decisions affecting ancient woodland. The importance of ancient
woodlands as an irreplaceable habitat is set out in paragraph 118 of the
NPPF, which states: ‘planning permission should be refused for
development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats,
including ancient woodland and the loss of aged or veteran trees found
outside ancient woodland, unless the need for, and benefits of, the
development in that location clearly outweigh the loss.’

59.

Within THL’s proposal, Whitewebbs Wood would, to a large degree,
remain as it is. It will largely be excluded from the lease and be managed
by the Council. The focus would be on enhancing the ecological and
recreational value of these 50 Ha, albeit with less obtrusive recreational
activities, such as walking, cycling, horse riding.

60.

THL’s submission demonstrates significant investment to enhance the
parks biodiversity. The following are included in their biodiversity
proposals:
•

PL 21.047 P

The creation of additional woodland meadow on restored historic
parkland;

Page 24

•
•
•
•

Wildflower habitat creation and long-term management would also
be introduced to significant areas of the new sports pitch layout;
A restored historic landscape and naturalised landscape of great
scenic and biodiversity value;
Riparian habitats will be bolstered by the introduction of scrub and
grassland communities along the length of the waterway and
broadleaved woodland planting
The potential establishment of a pioneering 60-hectare Habitat Bank

61.

Before launching the Phase 2, the marketing information and requirements
for bidders were enhanced, based on the proposed planning use
appraisal, and taking into account stakeholder and public feedback.

62.

Prior to the preparation of this report the Council has announced THFC as
its preferred bidder and provided anonymised details of the other bids
received to the public and stakeholders and has allowed time for
comments to be made and considered in advance of the decision-making
process.

63.

As stated above, no lease will be entered into unless and until planning
consent is granted. THL will carry out consultation prior to the submission
of a planning application and the application will be subject to the statutory
consultation process.

Main Considerations for the Council
64.

The decision to market WPGC was based on bringing an end to the
ongoing annual cost of the site to the Council, whilst delivering defined
objectives, that would improve the facilities and accessibility of the park for
the local community. Whilst the decision to close the course has already
been made it is appropriate that the Council now decided whether to
proceed with the outcome of the marketing process.

65.

THL’s proposal will result in investment in the site and the ongoing
maintenance of a significant area being met by the proposed tenant. In
addition to an annual rent, the agreement of a lease will provide a capital
payment for improvements to park infrastructure.

66.

The proposed scheme includes enhancements across the park, creating
an improved recreational offering for the local community. The proposal
includes investment to improve park pathways and bridleways, increased
cycle paths, increased parkland space, improved café and community
facilities and coaching will be provided to the local community to sport
pitches.

67.

The proposed use of WPGC will also realise significant investment to
enhance the parks biodiversity, which include native specimen tree
planting and expansive hay meadow creation which will assist in improving
local air quality and supporting actions to mitigate climate change.

PL 21.047 P

Page 25
68.

Prior to their proposal submission, THL obtained pre- planning advice from
the Local Planning Authority. Although it was noted that further detail
would be required for a full assessment, the initial feedback from the Local
Planning Authority was favourable in principle. In light of the benefits of
the scheme, it is considered that the proposal and outcomes are
achievable.

69.

The marketing of the property was undertaken with guidance from both
Legal and Property Services throughout the process, to ensure that it was
compliant with both the council’s Property Procedure Rules and its legal
responsibilities.

Safeguarding Implications
70.

There are no major safeguarding implications arising from this report.

Public Health Implications
71.

The proposal includes increasing publicly accessible open space, the
provision of community facilities and an investment in biodiversity and park
infrastructure. The proposals will provide an increased and improved
space for all park users, which will help narrow the gap of best and poorest
physical and mental health, by providing increased exercise space,
improved air quality, facilities for social connectedness.

72.

The proposed improved café and community facilities will provide local
residents and park users with a space which could better assist in
strengthening community resilience to support health & wellbeing through
better social connection.

73.

The proposed improvements to park infrastructure, through improved
bridleways, cycle tracks and paths, will better promote WPGC as a
destination for exercise and active travel.

Equalities Impact of the Proposal
74.

Although the decision to enter into an Agreement to Lease to THL is not
relevant to the Public Sector Equality Duty, the Council’s objectives in
defining the terms of the agreement will help the Council fulfil its duties
under the Public Sector Equality Duty (s.149 of the Equality Act 2010),
which are to:
•
•
•

75.

Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation,
and other conduct prohibited by the Act,
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not,
Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not

There is evidence that access to good quality green spaces has significant
health benefits which include better self-rated health; lower body mass
index, overweight and obesity levels; improved mental health and

PL 21.047 P

Page 26
wellbeing; increased longevity. There is also evidence of unequal access
to green space, with people living in the most deprived areas less likely to
live near green spaces and therefore have fewer opportunities to
experience the health benefits of green space compared with people living
in less deprived areas. Increasing the use of good quality green space for
all social groups is likely to improve health outcomes and reduce health
inequalities. It can also bring other benefits such as greater community
cohesion and reduced social isolation. (Public Health England: Local
action on health inequalities: Improving access to green spaces)
76.

Additionally, the proposed improvement works are likely to have a positive
impact on the protected characteristic of sex, as it provides for the creation
of a football academy for girls, thereby providing opportunities for girls and
promoting the status of women’s football.

77.

An equalities impact assessment is attached to this report.

78.

The equality impact assessment confirmed that the proposed use of
WPGC will have a positive impact on the following protected
characteristics:
•

•

•

Disability – The improvements to park infrastructure will provide an
opportunity to improve park accessibility to all residents. At design
stage, accessibility options should be considered, including
wheelchair accessible paths and sensory elements for visually
impaired.
Race - Some of the most acute effects of deprivation are felt by
black and minority ethnic communities living on a low income in
urban areas. The poor quality of their local environment has a
considerable impact on their health and wellbeing.
Improving
access to green spaces is likely to have a positive impact on the
health and wellbeing on the grounds of race.
Sex – The women’s football academy would be one of the first of its
kind in the UK and would be inspirational facility for female
participation in sport.

Environmental and Climate Change Considerations
79.

The proposed investment in biodiversity at WPGC, along with returning a
significant part of the park to parkland, will assist in improving air quality
and significantly supports the council’s effort to combat climate change.
These proposals include new native specimen tree planting within the site,
which will support the councils reforesting programme and provide natural
flood relief.

80.

In order for the proposed football academy to obtain planning permission,
under current adopted planning policies an application will be expected to
demonstrate that the proposal has a minimal environmental impact, in both
construction and operational stages.

PL 21.047 P

Page 27
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken
81.

Continued uncertainty regarding the future of the site will lead to continued
speculation regarding its future. Alternative uses will need to be identified
for the northern clubhouse otherwise it will fall into disrepair. Whilst the
southern clubhouse remains subject to a lease there is no certainty that
the lease will continue.

82.

Not securing the proposed investment in upgrades to footpaths,
bridleways and other public facilities could lead to reduced access and
accessibility to the site.

Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will
be taken to manage these risks
83.

In order to implement their proposals, THL will require planning permission
for the change of use of the WPGC site. Pre-application advice was
obtained by THL, as per the submission requirements and the initial advice
received was favourable. A lease will not be entered into until planning
permission has been obtained to ensure the delivery of the proposals. A
planning application will be expected to be submitted shortly after the
decision to award is made by the Authority.

84.

As previously experienced through the marketing exercise there may be
misunderstanding regarding the future of the site. A detailed
communications plan will be agreed between THL and the Council, to
ensure the future plans for the site are accurately and widely publicised.

Financial Implications
85.

The proposal will deliver an initial premium of £500,000 followed by an
annual rental from year 6 to 25 of £75,000 per annum. The rental will be
reviewed every 5 years linked to the growth in the Consumer Price Index.

86.

The Lease site will not include most of Whitewebbs Wood which will
continue to be managed by the Council, and its operating costs are met
from within existing resources (Parks Operations Services).

Legal Implications
87.

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 provides the Council with the power to
do anything an individual may do, provided it is not prohibited by legislation
and subject to public law principles. This is referred to as the "general
power of competence". A local authority may exercise the general power
of competence for its own purpose, for a commercial purpose and/or for
the benefit of others.

88.

In entering into property transactions, the Council must comply with the
provisions of its Constitution, including but not limited to its Property
Procedure Rules, which set out mandatory procedures regarding (amongst
other things) the acquisition, management and disposal of property assets.
In addition, Section 123(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a

PL 21.047 P

Page 28
Local Authority to secure the best consideration reasonably obtainable
when it disposes of land except on a short tenancy, unless it has the benefit
of an express or general consent of the Secretary of State. A short tenancy
is defined as a lease of not more than 7 years or the assignment of a lease
which at the date of the assignment has not more than 7 years unexpired
of the term.
89.

It is noted that a marketing exercise was undertaken and that THL’s
submission achieved the highest evaluation score and has been selected
as the preferred bidder, representing best consideration reasonably
obtainable.

90.

The Council is required as a best value authority under section 3 of the
Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard
to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. It is considered
that this duty is fulfilled by the proposals described in this report.

91

The WPGC site includes open space land. In accordance with s123(2A) of
the Local Government Act 1972 the Council may not dispose of any land
consisting or forming part of an open space unless before disposing of the
land they cause notice of their intention to do so, specifying the land in
question, to be advertised in two consecutive weeks in a newspaper
circulating in the area in which the land is situated, and consider any
objections to the proposed disposal which may be made to them.

92

There are various occupational arrangements affecting parts of the WPGC
site with follow up needed, pursuant to the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954.

93.

See Part 2.

94.

Section 5 of the Green Belt (London and Home Counties) Act 1938
contains restrictions on disposal relating to green belt. The purchase of the
WPGC site predates this enactment, (being 1 September 1931), therefore
consent pursuant to the 1938 Act is not applicable.

95.

The Council is required to act in accordance with the Public Sector Equality
Duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 and have due regard to
this when carrying out its functions which includes making new decisions.
The Council will have to ensure that it removes or mitigates any potential
factors which may interfere with its Public Sector Equality duty. It is noted
that an Equality impact Assessment has been conducted, which confirms
that the proposed use of the Property will have a positive impact on
protected characteristics.

96.

See Part 2.

97.

See Part 2.

98.

See Part 2

PL 21.047 P

Page 29
99.

The proposals set out in this report are within the Council’s powers and
duties. Advice from external Counsel has been taken throughout the
marketing and decision-making process.

100.

All legal documents to be entered into in connection with the subject matter
of this report must be approved in advance by Legal Services on behalf of
the Director of Law and Governance.

101.
102.

See Part 2.
See Part 2

Workforce Implications
103.

Following the earlier decision to close the golf course there are no
workforce implications of this proposal.

Property Implications
104.

This report has been co-authored by the Commercial team and Strategic
Property Services team. Property implications are therefore embedded
within the body of this report.

Procurement Implications
105.

The procurement of the Agreement to Lease is subject to the Property
Procedure Rules and does not fall within the scope of the Contract
Procedure Rules.

Other Options Considered
106.

Not to enter into a lease and to retain the whole site in Council
management. Whilst this approach will potentially deliver wider access to
the whole site it will not secure funding for investment in the creation and
maintenance of new parkland or the upgrading of public rights of way. It
will also not deliver investment in improved refreshment and welfare
facilities or their maintenance over the term of the proposed lease.

107.

There would be no investment in Women’s and Girls Football either at elite
or grassroots level.

Conclusions
108.

This report recommends that the Council enters into an agreement for
lease with THL and subject to the grant of planning consent and the
satisfaction of other conditions enters into a 25 year lease.

Report Author:

Wesley Pemberton
Commercial Development Manager
Wesley.pemberton@enfield.gov.uk
0208 132 1425

PL 21.047 P

Page 30

Date of report:

21.10.2021

Appendices
Confidential Part 2 report.
Background Papers
The following documents have been relied on in the preparation of this report:
Appendix 1: See Part 2 report
Appendix 2: Plan of the area proposed to be leased to THL shown edged blue
Appendix 3: WPGC 2019 Marketing Particulars
Appendix 4: See Part 2 report
Appendix 5: Anonymised detailed final evaluation scoring and scoring notes
Appendix 6: See Part 2 report
Appendix 7: See Part 2 report
Appendix 8: See Part 2 report
Appendix 9: Equalities Impact Assessment

PL 21.047 P

Page 31
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 35
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

Well

Whitewebbs Farm

Tr

ac

58.7m

Issues

k

Tra
ck

56.3m

2

1

Sloeman's
Cottage

59.0m
Pond

50.6m
64.6m
Whitewebbs
Cottage

WHITEW

EBBS RO

AD

34.3m

Trac
k

52.0m

El Sub Sta

Guy Lodge

um
)

North
Lodge

WHITE

1

NE

Guy Villas
38.6m

(u
m

)

Pa
th (

WEBBS
LA

2

2

WB

1

ROAD

S
WEBB
WHITE

ok
Bro
fley
Cuf

Brookbank

Pa
th

Museum

Hill Lodge Cottage

BS

41.7m

King and Tinker
(PH)

EB

W

TE

HI

W

NE
LA

Path (um

)

Pond

Pond

Path (um)

Keepers Cottage

Path (u

m)

Timber Yard
FB
125

Fish Pond
WB

Pond

k

Whitewebbs Wood

B

Tra
ck

Cuffley Broo

The Bungalow

Crews Hill Nurseries

The Limes

th
Pa

Dra
in

m
(u

)

Club House

Path

A

Pond

Stone

Pond

Tanks

White Webbs House

Tra
ck

(PH)

Pat
h

Water
Garden
Centre

Drain

Golf Course

th (
um
)

Whitewebbs Park
Pa

Drain

Path

Drain

White Webbs

Weir
FB

Lake

Pond

Co

urs
e

)

Wildwoods Water Garden Centre

Pond

42.4m

ld
ive

Pond

Pa
th

67

Pa
th

Brambles
Wildwood House

(u

h

Pat

(um

)

(O

ld

Co

ur

Page 45

Ne
wR

Pond

er
Riv

Boat House

FB

w

r (O

Dr
ain

Ne

Wildwoods

se

)

m)

Ne
FB

w

Ri
ve
r(

Ol
d

W
ate

El Sub Sta

r

Co
u

rse

)

Pond
Filter Bed

Nursery

(disused)

E

F

SH
LA

N
LA

Path
Trac

Wildwoods
Lodge

54.6m

ook

y Br

e
Turk

(um

)

k

FB

Pa
th
)

(um

ain

Dr

Pond
Silver Ley

Tra

ck

Lake

New Yard Garden Centre

FB

FB

Path (um)

FB

Pond

Drain

FB

Cuffley Brook

Pond

Pond

1

Tra

ck

4

Pond

FB

Oakhill
Cottages

FB

57.5m
Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2017. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432
nu
s

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2017. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432
FB

Fo
rtis

re

Tr

ac

k

Drain

4

6
St John's C of E
Primary School

ng
ac

Th
e

Dig
Lo

Co
t

Parish
Room

12
7

The Old Coach House

8

10

H
AS
FL

13

Caravan Park

Path

17

18

1
St Johns

NE
LA

14
15

THE

16

LD
OBA

Park Farm

S PA

Burnbrae Cottage

Po

nd

Cottage

RK
ROA

Glenwood House

St John's Church

D

59.7m

El Sub Sta

Pa

th

Whitewebbs Park

Brayside
Farm

Sports Pavilion

th

Pa

Brayside
Farm

D Fn
North London Cricket Club

Drain

LB

CLA
Y

Fallow Buck
(PH)

Pond

Club
House

HILL
Pond

Car Park

2

Pond

224
222

220
Pond

Woodfie

Haven

ld

Claysmore Cottage

Farm

FB
Pond

49.7m

Ponds

FB

Mavann

The

South Lodge

Queenswood

Turke
y Bro
ok

th

Claysmore
Lodge

CLAY
HILL

Path

37.5m

42.7m

(um)

Pa

)
(um

FB

ars

Ho

llo

w

Stable Cottage

Trac

Path

Be

gg

Pond

Pond

Path

Clay Hill House

Path

Kingswood
PH
23

e
Riv

18

w
Ne

(um)

18
5
Lodge

r

1

24

22

Drain

ld

Co
ur
se
)

8a

Playing Field

100m

150m

200m

Track

JO

HN
'S

TE

250m

ST

Date: 22/10/2020
UPDATED BLUE LINE ITERATION

1:2500
50m

Farm Cottages

RR
AC
E

CLAY HILL

NORTH

NOTE:
The following information is for illustrative purposes only.
This is not an official title plan and may be subject to
distortions in scale.

0

(O

32.0m
TCB

Hilly Fields Park

50m

k

SCALE

1:2500 @ A1

TITLE

WHITEWEBBS GOLF CLUB

This page is intentionally left blank

To let
Commercial development opportunity.

Page 47

Whitewebbs Park Golf
Course and adjacent land,
Whitewebbs Lane, Enfield,
EN2 9HH

Page 48

Whitewebbs and the adjacent
land represents an exciting
commercial opportunity to
reinvent a popular golf course.

The London Borough of Enfield (LBE) has flexibility over the future
of the property, wishing to see a proposal that meets their vision of
benefitting the local community. They will consider a range of golf and
non-golf uses including certified soil landscaping schemes to assist
with redevelopment if appropriate.
To assist with achieving their vision, LBE is willing to consider splitting
the property into smaller lettings if the outcome will be a better result
for the Council and users of the property. Alternatively, the Council will
accept consortium bids if this will provide the range of activities they
hope to see on site.

Page 49

Designed by J H Taylor, the golf course opened in 1932 as an 18 hole
municipal golf course with clubhouse and practice facilities. Adjacent
to the course is extensive woodland and grassland which can be
incorporated as part of a wider range of leisure activities. In total the
area extends to approximately 241.58 acres (97.8 hectares).

The potential
The Council is seeking to rejuvenate and possibly reinvent
Whitewebbs Golf Course and adjacent land to the benefit of
local residents. The area is a popular destination for a range
of people, who use the site not only for golf. For example,
the property is used by The Friends of Whitewebbs Park,
the local running club, cyclists and by walkers enjoying the
woods and café.

Having consulted with local community groups and
stakeholders, the Council wish for applicants to
demonstrate the following in their tenders:

Retention or enhancement of
public access

There are a number of footpaths and permissive footpaths
running through the property, mostly through the woodland
area. LBE is seeking a proposal that will, at a minimum,
retain this level of public access. The maintenance of these
permissive paths will be the responsibility of the tenant.

Community engagement

The Council wishes to see continuing positive community
engagement between local stakeholders and community
groups and new tenants. All submissions should describe
their approach to local community engagement.

The existing woodland, and golf course, provides an
important habitat and open space for wildlife and local
residents. Applicants are asked to demonstrate how these
areas will be maintained, and potentially enhanced, to
improve biodiversity through further planting or more active
management of the wood and grassland areas included
within any proposal.

Range of activities

There are already a range of existing leisure uses at the
property, predominantly with the pay and play golf course.
LBE is seeking a tenant who provides a business plan that
incorporates a range of activities. Some potential activities
suggested by the local community are included later in this
documentation. Within the leisure proposals, LBE require
applicants to demonstrate how the proposed activities will
be open to a range of users.

Provision of refreshments and welfare
facilities

At present there is a mobile café serving refreshments at
the southern clubhouse. In addition, there are some welfare
facilities at the northern clubhouse. All submissions must
demonstrate how the availability of refreshments and
welfare facilities will be provided to visitors to the park
and golf course.

Page 50

With the proximity of the property to Enfield, and the existing
Toby Carvery restaurant adjacent, the Council wish to
enhance the existing leisure use for the benefit of the local
community. The Council is seeking creative proposals that,
subject to planning and planning policy, will seek to protect
and boost this popular open space.

Maintenance of woodland and open areas

Pond

Ruin

Oast
House

Warehouse

White House

Whitewebbs Golf Club

Ruins

Well

Whitewebbs Farm

Sloeman's
Cottage

Tra
ck

58.7m

Issues

Tra
ck

1
2

56.3m

59.0m
Pond

50.6m
64.6m
Whitewebbs
Cottage

WHITEWE
BBS ROA

D

34.3m

Track

52.0m

Guy Lodge

2

BBS LANE

The

Guy Villas

(u
Pa

th

Museum

Hill Lodge Cottage

41.7m

King and Tinker
(PH)

HIT
W

Path (um)

Pond

EW

B
EB

S

Me

NE
LA

y
Lay-b

Pond

135

Path (um)

New Bungalow

38.6m

m
)

Pa

WHITEWE

1

th (u
m)

1

WB

El Sub Sta

North
Lodge

k
Broo

38.6m

ROAD

BBS

2

WE
WHITE

fley
Cuf

Brookbank
Stables

Path (um)

Keepers Cottage

Timber Yard
FB

Fish Pond

125

El Sub Sta
131

WB

Nursery

Path

Pond

(um)

Cuffley Brook

Whitewebbs Wood

121

Trac
k

The Bungalow

Pa

th

(u

m
)

Crews Hill Nurseries

The Limes

47.2m
th
Pa

Drain

(u

m

)

Club House

95

THEO

93

BALD

Path

89

RK RO
S PA

Pond

AD

Stone

Drain

White Webbs
Pond

Trac

Tanks

White Webbs House

k

(PH)

Path

Water
Garden
Centre

Drain

Golf Course

Whitewebbs Park
Path

(um

)

El Sub Sta

Path (um
)

Drain

Weir
FB

Lake

Pond

Wildwoods Water Garden Centre

Pond

42.4m

Co
urs
e

)

Dra

(O
ld
wR
ive
r

67

Ne

Brambles

(u

h (u

in

FB

Pond

Pond
Pat
Pa
th

m)
th (u
Pa

m)

(O
ld

m)

Page 51

Boat House

er
Riv

Garden Centre

w
Ne

Wildwoods

Trac
k

Co

urs
e)

Wildwood House

Ne
w
FB
W

El Sub Sta

Riv
e

ater

r (o
ld

Co
urs

e)

Pond

Filter Bed

Nursery

(disused)

A
FL

ey Br
Turk

NE
LA

ook

Path

Track

Wildwoods
Lodge

54.6m

SH

(um)

FB

m)

in

h (u
Pat

Dra

Pond
Silver Ley

Drain

Trac
k

Lake

Pond

FB

Cuffley Brook

Pond

New Yard Garden Centre

FB

FB
1

4

EN
DA

LE

9

CLOS

FB

Pond

Trac
k
Pond

FB
FB

Oakhill
Cottages

8

7

RO
SS

Path (um)

Drain

5

E

57.5m

Pond

12
SE

Tra

ck

12

7

OSS

The Old Coach House

8
Astley

10

1
St Johns

13

Caravan Park

14
15
16
Burnbrae Cottage

nd

D
K ROA

Glenwood House

Po

Cottage

PAR

AD

NE
LA

Park Farm

LDS

IEL
D RO

H
AS

OBA

AYF

FL

THE

STR

Path

17

18

House

St John's Church

59.7m

El Sub Sta

Pa

th

Whitewebbs Park

Brayside
Farm

Sports Pavilion

Pa

th

Brayside
Farm

D Fn

North London Cricket Club

Drain

LB

Fallow Buck
(PH)

Mast
(Telecommunication)

Pond

Club
House

CLA
Y HILL
Pond

Car Park

2

Pond

224

222

220
Pond

FB

Mavann

Haven

Woodfield

Claysmore Cottage

Farm

The

South Lodge

Queenswood

Ponds

FB
Pond

49.7m

Turk

CLAY

Claysmore
Lodge

HILL

37.5m

Path

42.7m

Pa

(um)

th (um

ey Broo

k

)

FB

gg
ars

Ho
llo

w

Stable Cottage

Trac

k

Path

Be

Pond

Pond

Path

Clay Hill House

Path
(um)

Kingswood

23

r
ve
Ri

18

w

Lodge

Ne

18 PH
5

1
24

(O
ld

Cou

Drain

22

AC
E

25

TE
RR

75

100

125

150

175

200

Scale:

1:2500 @ A1

Plan Ref:

Farm Cottages

Title

Track

Forty Hall
Cottage

Whitewebbs Golf Club

Metres
10

178

©Crown copyright and database rights 2019. Licence No. 100021721

AD

Pond

Forty Hall
Farm

BR

5

OW
NIN

G RO

35.6m

166

ok

El
Sub Sta

The Gardeners Rest

Little Pipers

PC

EN

UE

1

162

y Bro

50

6

rke

25

12

Tu

Pond

0

'S

8b

HN
ST

JO

1 to 2

LL

30

HI

13

AY

1

CL

2

E

01:07:19 TE

8a

Bramley House
Court

S

Drawn By:

Date:
TCB

W

rs
e)

32.0m

CLAY HILL

14
7
1

TT
ON

er

(Old

Ha
ll

h

Cou

rse)

Pa
th

MO
RLE
Y
HIL
L

73

131

62

RA
ST

HILLS

68

IDE CRES

132

ENS

Pat
Riv

124

14

GARD

75

NOOK

The Firs

2

PARK

41.8m

12th Enfield
Scout Group
(Club)

New

LB

12

133

CENT

36.7m

2

Forty

AV

156

Bandstand

Track

142

(t) 01488 688508
(e) mapping@knightfrank.com

N
Playing Field

17

Mapping Department
Knight Frank LLP
Hilly Fields Park
Ramsbury House, 22 High Street
Hungerford, Berkshire, RG17 0NF

3 to

CLO

END
ALE

FB

Fo
rtis

re

4

Drain

10
St John's C of E
Primary School

Dig
nu
s

The

Lo
ng
ac

Cot

11

Parish
Room

6
El Sub Sta

4.0m
Warehouse

White House

Jollyes
Well

The
Granaries

Ruins
Whitewebbs Farm

1
2

56.3m

Tra

58.7m

Issues

ck

k

Sloeman's
Cottage

Nursery

Trac

WB

59.0m
Pond

50.6m
64.6m
Whitewebbs
Cottage

WHITEWE
BBS ROAD

34.3m

Track

52.0m

Guy Lodge

2

LANE

1

m)

WHITEWE
BBS

Pa
th (u

1

Guy Villas
38.6m

138

138a

WB

El Sub Sta

North
Lodge

k
Broo

38.6m

ROAD

BS

2

WEB
WHITE

fley
Cuf

Brookbank
Stables

(u

m

)

40.3m

Pa

th

Museum

Hill Lodge Cottage
LB

Path (um)

Pond

41.7m

King and Tinker
(PH)

1

Pond

2

135

Path (um)

W

7

y
Lay-b
Keepers Cottage

6

4

FB

Fish Pond

125

1

4

WB

131

122

Nursery

NE
LA

Path (um)

Timber Yard

El Sub Sta

BS
EB
EW
HIT

Whitewebbs Wood

121

Trac
k

Cuffley Brook

The Bungalow

(um)
Path

Pond

Oak
Lodge

(u
m

)

Crews Hill Nurseries

Pa
th

Kings Oak
Riding School
The Limes

47.2m

th
Pa

Drain

Club House

Path

Pond

89

Theobalds
Piggeries

9

)

93

NE

m

95

AD
RK RO
S PA
BALD
THEO

Stone

White Webbs
Pond

Tanks

1

White Webbs House

Trac
k

(PH)

Path

Water
Garden
Centre

Drain

Golf Course

Whitewebbs Park

18

Path

(um
)

El Sub Sta

FB

Lake

13

Wildwoods Water Garden Centre

Pond

42.4m

Cou
rse
)

Dra
in

ld
Riv
er
(O
Ne
w

67
Brambles

Pat
h (u
m)

Pa

FB

Pond

Pond

Pa
th

th (u

er

Boat House

Pond

Riv

Garden Centre

3

17

w
Ne

Wildwoods

5

Drain

8

Weir

Path (um
)

Drain

P LA
YS TO

(u

m)

(O

ld

Co
u

(u
m)

rs
e)

Ne
w
FB
W

El Sub Sta

Riv
er

ater

12
(old

Co
urs
e)

14

Pond

H
AS
FL

NE
LA

(disused)

Total area =
241.58 acres approx.

2

ey
Turk

Track

Wildwoods
Lodge

Filter Bed

11

Nursery

54.6m

Page 52

Wildwood House

k
Broo
)
(um
Path

FB
in

m)
h (u
Pat

Dra

Pond
Silver Ley

Trac
k

16

Lake

Pond

FB

Cuffley Brook

Pond

New Yard Garden Centre

FB

FB
1

Trac

DA

2

EN

LE

9

CL
OS

Pond

Pond

FB
FB

Oakhill
Cottages

8

7

SS

FB

k

4

RO

Path (um)

Drain

5

E

57.5m

12
FB

Fo
rtis
s

The

3

1

4

10

ROS
SEN
DAL
E CLO
SE

nu

ng
ac
re

Tra
ck

4

Drain

Dig

Lo

St John's C of E
Primary School

Cot

11

Parish
Room

6
El Sub Sta

12
7

The Old Coach House

8
Astley

10

1
St Johns

13

Caravan Park

AS
FL

14

OBA
THE

15
32

Lavina Nursery

D RO

Burnbrae Cottage

AD
Glenwood House

St John's Church

H

LA

NE

Park Farm

Po

Cottage

D
K ROA
PAR

YF
IEL

16

RA

LDS

ST

Path

17

18

House

15

nd

10

59.7m

El Sub Sta

Sports Pavilion

Pat
h

Whitewebbs Park

Brayside
Farm

th
Pa

Brayside
Farm

D Fn
North London Cricket Club

Drain

LB

Fallow Buck
(PH)

Mast
(Telecommunication)

Pond

Car Park

2

Pond

Tanks

Pond

Club
House

CLA
Y HILL

224
222

220
Pond

FB

Mavann

Woodfield

The

Claysmore Cottage

Farm

Haven

South Lodge

Queenswood

Ponds

FB
Pond

49.7m

Turk

Claysmore
Lodge

CLAY HILL

37.5m

Path

42.7m

ey Broo

k

)
th (um
Pa

(um)

FB

Be
gg
ars

Ho

llo
w

Stable Cottage

Pond

Trac
k

Path

Drain

Pond

Clay Hill House

Path

Pond

Path
(um)

Kingswood

r

TCB

E
AC
RR

8b

TE
JO
HN
'S
ST

1 to 2

LL

Plan Ref:

Whitewebbs Golf Club

Farm Cottages

Track

Forty Hall
Cottage

1

30

HI

1:5000 @ A3

13

AY

Scale:

2

Bramley House
Court

10

178

RO
AD

Pond

BRO

166

ok

El
Sub Sta

16

Forty Hall
Farm

Little Pipers

The Gardeners Rest

PC

EN

UE

2

y Bro

1

Pond

6

rke
Tu

NB: If field & building type are unknown - assumed pasture & residential

This Plan is published for guidance only, and although it is believed to be correct its accuracy is not guaranteed,
nor is it intended to form part of any contract. ©Crown copyright and database rights 2019. Licence No. 100021721

5

WN
ING

35.6m

12

Road / Track

Water

Title

8a

CL

Drawn By:

24:07:19 TE

rs
e)

32.0m

3 to

Drain

ve

Orchard
Heathland
Rocks / Boulders
CLAY HILL
Building (Residential)
Building / Structure (Agricultural)
Gardens

Cou

14
7

S

Date:

Ri

24

Pasture
Arable
Game Cover
Woodland

Parkland
Verge / Misc

(t) 01488 688508
(e) mapping@knightfrank.com

(O
ld

17

E

W

23

181

22

Playing Field

w

Land Use:

N

Mapping Department
Knight Frank LLP
Ramsbury House,
22 High Street
Hilly Fields Park
Hungerford, Berkshire, RG17 0NF

Ne

18 PH
5
Lodge

1

RA
TT
ON
ST
MO
RLE
Y
HIL
L

68
60

6
142

38.0m

11

62

12
2

11

69

9
13

0

149

Turkey Brook

1

Drain

73

Path

Pat
h
New

124

75

127

FB

k
oo
Br

Forty

12th Enfield
Scout Group
(Club)

LB

The Firs

GARD
ENS

131

FB

Turkey

142

14

132

133

NOOK

HILLS
IDE CRES
CENT

36.7m

2

PARK

41.8m

AV

156

Bandstand

Track

Turkey Brook

CL
AY

HI

L

Riv

er

(Old

Cou

rse)

Ha
ll

Page 53

The location
Whitewebbs Golf Course is well situated to
engage with a large audience. The property is
located between Enfield town centre (2 miles
south) and the M25, with Junction 25 of the
M25 (A10) approximately 1.8 miles to the
north east.
Benefitting from two main road entrances, from
Whitewebbs Road and Clay Hill via Beggars
Hollow, the property is easily accessible from
the M25 and A10.

Page 54

The shop and café to the north of the site can
be accessed by foot from Crews Hill Station
in 30 minutes (1.6 miles), or the southern
clubhouse is within a 20 minute walk from
Gordon Hill Station (1.1 miles), making the
property accessible without cars.

The demographic
Data from 2017 estimates a population
of 490,088 within a 15 minute drive of
Whitewebbs, increasing to 2,773,553 people
within a 30 minute drive.

Page 55

The Experian Area profile also highlights
Mosaic groups within the 15 and 30 minute
catchments. A full description in the Experian
Mosaic groups is available on the data room.
The Experian data demonstrates that within 30
minutes of Whitewebbs Golf Course there are
almost 130,000 households classified as ‘City
Prosperity’, closely followed by almost 120,000
‘Domestic Success’ households.

Facilities
Currently there are two golf clubhouses on site as shown on the
site plan. Originally, the main clubhouse was on the southern
side (the Beggars Hollow end), and in this location is the private
clubhouse used by the members of Whitewebbs Golf Club, a
substantial car parking area, a mobile café and a golf practice
ground. The 18-hole course previously started and finished from
this location.
The resident golf club, Whitewebbs Golf Club, run their
own operation from the southern clubhouse. The southern
clubhouse is in poor condition and is generally regarded as
being close to, or at the end, of its useful economic life.

This move meant rerouting parts of the 18-hole course so that
it started and finished close to the stable block clubhouse
area. Nearby to the stable block clubhouse is a practice putting
green and a customer car parking area. Also nearby is the
greenkeeping complex.
The 18-hole course has a length of 5,822 yards (par 68) and
originally opened for play in 1932. It was designed by the
famous professional golfer, J H Taylor, a five-time winner of the
Open Championship and a revered golf course architect.

The two existing clubhouse locations provide any future golf
operator with considerable flexibility and choice on how to run
the operation, and what facilities they may wish to provide to the
market – such as an enhanced golf academy/practice area and
adventure golf.
If requested, information on the main greenkeeping items can be
provided. LBE has spent substantial sums in the last year upgrading
some of the main greenkeeping machinery.

Page 56

In the 1990s, the Council let Whitewebbs Golf Course to a
commercial golf operator. The latter relocated its clubhouse
facilities to the northern part of the site by converting the old
stable block near the mansion house (now the Toby Carvery)
into a golf shop/reception area with changing rooms and
modest café facilities.

The course is parkland in style and is within an attractive setting for
golf with a brook meandering through parts of it (Cuffley Brook). The
greens are of traditional construction and there is an automated
irrigation system to greens and tees. Golfers starting from the
southern clubhouse (the site of the private members club), start on
the 11th tee.

Existing business
LBE runs the 18-hole golf course along with the stable block clubhouse ‘inhouse’. The Council has provided a summary of the last 5 years’ of golf roundage,
income and expenditure. A detailed breakdown of the site’s running costs can
be obtained from the data room; please note that the expenditure figures shown
below do not include central Council cost allocations.

Year

2015/16

2016/17

Income
Achieved

Total Service
Expenditure

Service
Total

24, 724

£317, 676

£369, 864

-£52, 188

25, 106

27, 507

£318, 750

£350, 650

£354, 110

£355, 329

-£35, 360

-£4, 679

Year Ended
31 Mar 19

Year Ended
31 Mar 18

Year Ended
31 Mar 17

Green Fees

61%

61%

68%

Membership

14%

15%

8%

Retail

13%

10%

9%

Hire

10%

9%

10%

Food & Beverages

2%

5%

5%

100%

100%

100%

Total Income

Standard summer rate green fees are £20 midweek and £26.50 at weekends. Midweek and
7-day season tickets are also available at costs of £499 and £699 respectively. Midweek and
7-day golf cards are also available, and they give holders discounted green fees.
As at 4 July 2019 there were the following:

2017/18

26, 095

£328, 869

£389, 918

-£61, 049

2018/19

22, 740

£315, 170

£331, 009

-£15, 839

•

7-day season ticket holders

59

•

5-day season ticket holders

43

•

7-day golf card holders		

2

•

5-day golf card holders		

50

The Whitewebbs Golf Shop staff reserve the Whitewebbs Golf Club approximately 6 booking
slots every Saturday and Sunday morning for their Club competitions. If the Club anticipates
that they will not use all slots, they give them back to the shop staff well in advance.
There is the equivalent to 6.6 full time employees on site – 4 full time greenkeepers and 2.6
pro shop employees. Information on these employees, such as job titles and basic pay, can
be requested and anonymised TUPE information will be provided.

Page 57

2014/15

Annual
Roundage

Below is a break-down of the Council’s revenue figures for the last three years. They are net of
VAT and come from on-site management accounts. Please note that from 1st April 2018, food
and beverages sold over the counter were incorporated in to retail sales.

Page 58

Potential uses

Planning

Services

An independent report was conducted by LBE
to ascertain the potential for landscaping.
The agent has not had sight of this report but
understands that the golf course alone has
capacity for 150,000 to 200,000m3 of soil.
Applicants that are considering landscaping
schemes are advised to make their own
enquiries, and include these within the
Expression of Interests, considering the other
objectives of the Council.

Planning policy is dictated by the London
Borough of Enfield’s Core Strategy 2010 –
2025. An emerging Local Plan is currently being
prepared. The proposals map accompanying
the Core Strategy shows that Whitewebbs
is designated as Green Belt, a Local Open
Space and an Area of Special Advertisement
Control. In addition, the woodland is classed
as a Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature
Conservation. A small area of the southern
part of the site, south of the club house, is also
situated within the Clay Hill Conservation Area.

LBE has confirmed that the property benefits
from mains water, electricity, gas and drainage.
The agent has not made their own enquiries in
this regard.

Redevelopment proposals that meet the
requirements of the Core Strategy will be
considered by LBE. We recommend that
applicants make their own enquiries if a driving
range forms part of their proposals.

Rateable value

From discussions with existing users of
the property, some suggestions for future
uses include:
•

A leisure centre, or outdoor gym;

•

Children’s play area;

•

Café or restaurant;

•

Bike hire and bike tracks.

All uses will be subject to planning and we
recommend pre-application advice is sought
at the earliest opportunity. A complete list of
suggestions can be found in the data room.

Planning permission has previously been
granted for the redevelopment of the northern
clubhouse – TP/96/1099 ‘conversion of vacant
stable block into a golf clubhouse involving
the demolition of single storey extension,
demolition of existing depot and erection
of new shed for ancillary storage purposes,
together with extension to existing golf course
involving landscape work, formation of car
parking and new access road’. This permission
was not implemented.

This is currently £117,000 effective from 1 April
2017. The Council has appealed this figure, via a
‘challenge’ to the Valuation Office Agency – as
it is significantly higher than other local venues
on a comparative basis. The Council is awaiting
a response to the challenge from the Valuation
Office Agency.

Page 59

Any schemes that involve a landscaping
element must still meet the Council’s objectives
for the site. A scheme could only involve the
deposition of specified soils and aggregates
under CL:AIRE or EA permits.

We understand a mains gas pipeline runs
in close proximity to the southern boundary,
near the Clubhouse and car park. Applicants
are advised to make their own enquiries if this
impacts their plans of redevelopment.

Tenure and disposal
The freehold of Whitewebbs Golf Course is currently held by
LBE. The property is subject to registered leases and more
information is available on request.
The Southern Club House is occupied by a members-only
Whitewebbs Golf Club, holding over from an expired lease.
LBE is liaising with the Club to provide vacant possession of
the site by the completion of a new lease.

There is a restriction on the selling of alcohol across the
golf course, and food and drink outside of the club houses
with some exceptions in accordance with the lease dated
23rd June 1998 between The Mayor and Burgesses of The
London Borough of Enfield and Whitbread PLC. It may be
possible to negotiate an agreement with Whitbread PLC to
amend this restriction, subject to approval from LBE and
Whitbread PLC.
LBE is offering a 25 year lease over the property, subject to
appropriate break clauses. The lease will be governed by the
Landlord & Tenant Act 1954 and excluded from the security
of tenure provisions. The tenant will have full repairing and
insuring obligations and will be able to assign and share
possession in accordance with the lease provisions. An
example lease can be found in the data room.
LBE aim to complete a new lease before the end of 2019,
with the new tenant taking occupation before 31st
March 2020.

•

Applicant

•

Proposed future use of the property

•

Extent of premises
(if applying for part only)

•

Details of relevant experience in proposed use

•

The proposed annual rent offered, including any rent
premiums or rent free periods

•

Outline development proposals

•

Details on how the proposals fit with LBE’s Vision

•

A summary business plan

All offers will be considered, and dependent upon the
level of interest, will be ranked against the Scoring Matrix
provided in the data room. If strong interest is received, LBE
and their agents reserve the right to initiate a second, more
detailed, stage of bidding with the parties which ranked
highest on the Scoring Matrix.
Applications for part of the property may be disregarded if
there is not enough interest to fully let the demise. In this
circumstance applicants will be invited to revise their offer
to reflect a tenancy of the whole.
LBE reserves the right not to accept any proposal received.

Page 60

Adjacent to the Southern Club House is a mobile catering
service, holding over from a licence which terminated 31st
March 2019. The licence fee is £10,000 per annum and
permits the sale of hot and cold food, confectionery and
non-alcoholic drinks only. The Council expect to issue a
further licence terminating 31st March 2020.

Initial expressions of interest are invited by midday on Friday
18th October. These should be completed on the document
provided to ensure that details on the following are included:

Page 61

Contact us.
Kathryn Brown

kathryn.brown@knightfrank.com

James Shepherd

james.shepherd@knightfrank.com

Mark Smith

mark@smithleisure.com

01279 213 350

Page 62

Important notice

1. Particulars: These particulars are not an offer or contract, nor part of one. You should not rely on statements by Knight Frank LLP in the particulars or by word of mouth or in writing (“information”) as being factually accurate about the
property, its condition or its value. Knight Frank LLP has any authority to make any representations about the property, and accordingly any information given is entirely without responsibility on the part of the agent or seller. 2. Photos, plans,
maps and Computer Generated Images (CGIs): Photographs used show only certain parts of the property as they appeared at the time they were taken. CGIs used in this document are for indicative purposes only. Areas, measurements
and distances given are approximate only. 3. Regulations: Any reference to alterations to, or use of, any part of the property does not mean that any necessary planning, building regulations or other consent has been obtained. A buyer
or lessee must find out by inspection or in other ways that these matters have been properly dealt with and that all information is correct. 4 VAT: The VAT position relating to the property may change without notice. Particulars dated
September 2019.

knightfrank.co.uk

Connecting people & property, perfectly.

Page 63
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

Bidder

Bidder A Use of Whitewebbs for rewilding,
educational, livestock and community
uses

Leisure Experience (10%)
Category Score Weighted Score

Comments

Rental Offer (35%)
Rent Offered
Weighted Score

7.5

Farming, colleage and visitors to
£0
premises they have good
experience with. Experience of
managing an open premises limited

0

Bidder B - Full
25
Redesigned golf course including
landsccaping, along with a number of
other leisure uses both paid for and free
of charge. These uses include dog agility,
community hub, drone flying, fishing,
team activity events

2.5

Managed by newly formed WEPH - £2,500,000
no experice of operational
management demonstrated

17.5

Bidder B - Reduced

25

2.5

£1,970,000

13.79

Bidder C
Main element of the business is Big
Shots driving range with large F&B
offering, plus adventure golf course,
reduced golf course

25

2.5

£5,000,000

35

No demonstratable experience
from the bidder

Page 93

75

10

Experience in the offering - football £2,000,000
and experience around that, as well
as pitch maintenance.

14

Bidder E - Low
Bidder E- Mid
Bidder E - High
Wildlife visitor and educational centre
and rewilding of Whitewebbs

10
10
10

Wildwood Trust has operated for
£462,821
over 17 years and has created two £693,979
wildlife parks and education centres £959,000
exactly like the one proposed for
Whitewebbs.

3.239747
4.857853
6.713

2.5

No experience in leisure

16.8

100
100
100

Bidder F 25
Development of an events
venue, continuation of reconfigured golf
course and community park.

£2,400,000

Page 94

Tottenham Hotspur
100
Use of part of the golf course for football
pitches for womens football, plus
community hub, habitat bank, rewilding
and return to historic parkland.

Comments

Business Plan & Financial Standing (15%)
Category Score Weighted Score

Zero rent offered

50

7.5

Heavily weighted to proposed grant funded income especially for apprenticeships and education, other income public facing education & activities like tours, livestock
related income via farm shop. The bid did not confirm that
this funding has been secured yet.

Made up of £100k
pa

50

7.5

Reliant on sub-leases - 3.5 years until operation, £130k for
coummunity hub - unsure how that is achievable 24 year
pay back without importation. No suggested future
operational partner.

50

7.5

25

3.75

Page 95

£200k pa

Comments

Second highest income is from liqour sales, room hire is
high (compate FH), doesnt appear to consider business
rates (utilities?). Yr 1 income based on almost 1150 visitors
a ay + golf. (only 200 car parking spaces at
present)Concerns of financial and lack of transparency of
future funding. Business Case is based on Bigshots
International but the submission is from Bigshot UK and
there is no description of the relationship between the two
orgainsations.

Payable as one sum or as a rental
income

75

Strong financials, habitat bank appears strong income
source, although further details surrounding the financial
details and the type of work that would be undertaken on
site and how the bank would operate need to be
confirmed. Offer also includes the TUPE of staff

Profit-sharing arrangement proposed. 50
They have offered to pay a percentage 50
of profits from certain ‘commercial’
50
activities. Rent capped at £40k &
income from activites such as charged
car parking.

7.5
7.5
7.5

Capital funding will be sought from a diverse range of Grant
Making Trusts, Lottery Funds and public donations including
major donors. The bid did not provide confirmation that
this has been secured already

£100k pa - 1 year rent free period

3.75

Concern that there is no experience in golf course
management or operations, 2nd element of business case
is based on popularity of golf and new generations entering
the sport- although it is a shrinking market, the main
element if a wedding venue (not leisure) no detail of
potential costs and incomes, no real detail at all.

25

Page 96

11.25

Pre App Planning Advice (10%)
Category Score
Weighted Score Comments

Meeting Councils Objectives (30%)
Category Score
Weighted Score

100

10

The pre app advice was that the use would
have very positive aspects in regard the use
of the green belt and lack of building work is
broadly positive and likely to be supported

75

50

5

Concerns on development/buildings on
50
openess of green belt, concerns of access to
site, potential heritage issues, uses would
generally be ok, re-profiling would be
objected to at this stage - local amennity and
highway capacity,

15

50

5

50

15

25

2.5

Significant concens from the Local Planning 25
Authority regarding the scale of development
which includes driving range, adventure golf
courses, hardstanding and a 500 seat venue
and resulting impact, including T&T and
heritage .

7.5

22.5

Page 97

7.5

Generally favourable although further details 75
are required

22.5

25
25
25

2.5
2.5
2.5

Inappropriate within greenbelt and harmful
to the openess. T&T concerns based on
projected visitor numbers. Zoo area would
require significant development for animal
enclosure, boundary treatments for paid
attraction and visitor centre.

75
75
75

22.5
22.5
22.5

25

2.5

The LPA acknowledge the aspiration of the
development and welcome such a form of
development in isolation, albeit not on the
site of Whitewebbs Golf course.

25

7.5

Page 98

75

es (30%)
Comments

TOTAL SCORE
Total
Outcome

Details provided of meeting most objectives Café & toilets to be 47.5
provided at the north of the site - also intend to continue to
provide and possible enhance current facilites in the south, clear
focus on maintaining and improving the woodland and open
areas,

3rd

Slightly reduced public access - development reduces usable
47.5
space, bike tracks chargable, thorough Coms plan submitted, few
details on maintenance of woodland & open areas regarding
habitats etc,large amount of activities proposed, new propoased
café with welfare facilities.

3rd

Page 99

43.79
No public café/welfare details, no details of maintenance, no
real detail provided of how the Councils objectives would be
achievd

51.25

2nd - although made up of price - planning
permission for scheme is highly unlikley

Preferred bidder

Pathways and bridleways maintained, significant measures to
maintained open space and woodland, wide range of activities
outside of zoo element provided, included café and toilets

45.739747
47.357853
49.213

Bid Withdrawn

Future plans still to be formed, no details of maintenance,
phased approach, no coms plan, main use is for events - not
considered a leisure use

33.05

5th

Page 100

Nine key communications strategies have been identified and set 65.25
out, increased and improved access, additional bridle and cycle
ways by an extra 3 km, openess increased by turning golf course
to parkland,

Page 101
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 111
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 211
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 227

Enfield Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Introduction
The purpose of an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) is to help Enfield Council
make sure it does not discriminate against service users, residents and staff, and
that we promote equality where possible. Completing the assessment is a way to
make sure everyone involved in a decision or activity thinks carefully about the likely
impact of their work and that we take appropriate action in response to this analysis.
The EqIA provides a way to systematically assess and record the likely equality
impact of an activity, policy, strategy, budget change or any other decision.
The assessment helps us to focus on the impact on people who share one of the
different nine protected characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010 as well as
on people who are disadvantaged due to socio-economic factors. The assessment
involves anticipating the consequences of the activity or decision on different groups
of people and making sure that:
• unlawful discrimination is eliminated
• opportunities for advancing equal opportunities are maximised
• opportunities for fostering good relations are maximised.
The EqIA is carried out by completing this form. To complete it you will need to:
• use local or national research which relates to how the activity/ policy/
strategy/ budget change or decision being made may impact on different
people in different ways based on their protected characteristic or socioeconomic status;
• where possible, analyse any equality data we have on the people in Enfield
who will be affected eg equality data on service users and/or equality data on
the Enfield population;
• refer to the engagement and/ or consultation you have carried out with
stakeholders, including the community and/or voluntary and community sector
groups and consider what this engagement showed us about the likely impact
of the activity/ policy/ strategy/ budget change or decision on different groups.
The results of the EqIA should be used to inform the proposal/ recommended
decision and changes should be made to the proposal/ recommended decision as a
result of the assessment where required. Any ongoing/ future mitigating actions
required should be set out in the action plan at the end of the assessment.
The completed EqIA should be included as an appendix to relevant EMT/
Delegated Authority/ Cabinet/ Council reports regarding the service activity/
policy/ strategy/ budget change/ decision. Decision-makers should be
confident that a robust EqIA has taken place, that any necessary mitigating
action has been taken and that there are robust arrangements in place to
ensure any necessary ongoing actions are delivered.

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 228

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 229

SECTION 1 – Equality Analysis Details
Title of service activity / policy/
strategy/ budget change/ decision that
you are assessing

Decision to award 25-year lease for
Whitewebbs Park Golf Course

Lead officer(s) name(s) and contact
details

Mark Bradbury
mark.bradbury@enfield.gov.uk

Team/ Department

Property and Economy – Place

Executive Director

Sarah Cary

Cabinet Member

Cllr Maguire

Date of EqIA completion

5 November 2020

SECTION 2 – Summary of Proposal
Please give a brief summary of the proposed service change / policy/ strategy/
budget change/project plan/ key decision
It is proposed that the Council enter into an Agreement for Lease and subject to
planning permission for the proposed use, approves the granting of a lease of a
25-year lease for the area of Whitewebbs Park Golf Course (WPGC) shown
marked Area A on the attached plan to Tottenham Hotspur Ltd (THL).
On 11 April 2019, the Overview & Scrutiny Committee agreed to confirm the
Portfolio decision KD4849, for the Authority to market WPGC, taking a flexible
approach in order achieve a sustainable future that optimises delivery of the
Council’s Corporate Objectives.
Prior to the marketing of Whitewebbs Park, the Council engaged directly with
stakeholders of the park, to inform them of the Councils plans to market the site
and provide updates throughout the marketing process. The stakeholders engaged
by the Authority were:
• Ward Councillors
• The Friends of Whitewebbs Park
• The Friends of Hilly Fields
• The Greenbelt Forum
• Whitewebbs Golf Club

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 230

• Whitewebbs Golf Course Users
Council officers prepared a vision document which outlined the Authority’s
objectives for the leasing of the site which was included in the marketing material.
Stakeholders helped officers develop the stated ambitions and the scoring criteria
for the bid assessment. As a result, bidders were required, to demonstrate as part
of their Expressions of Interest, how they would support the Councils vision in the
following categories:
• Retention or enhancement of public access
• Maintenance of woodland and open areas
• Range of activities
• Provision of refreshments and welfare facilities
• Community Engagement
Following the marketing process of the property, THL’s submission achieved the
highest evaluation score and was selected as the preferred bidder to award a 25year lease for WPGC. The bid was underpinned by a masterplan which ensured
that the Council’s LBE’s five stated objectives would be achieved across the
WPGC site.
Ahead of the launch of the marketing programme, stakeholders were invited to
suggest potential future leisure uses of the park, which were then included in the
marketing material.
The Council will receive an annual lease payment, as well as a capital payment for
improvement works to infrastructure within Whitewebbs Woods. The payments will
ensure that the site is no longer a financial burden for the Council and will allow
improvements to be made to the existing park infrastructure.
The proposal would see part of the lease site used as a football academy site and
it is proposed that the remainder of the golf course area would be transformed to
parkland with open access provided to park users. In addition, the lease will see
the creation of a new café and community space, to replace the current mobile
provision and dilapidated southern golf club house.
As a result of the lease, the site will no longer be used as a golf course. Currently,
whilst the golf course is open for any person to pay and play, the golf course area
is not accessible for non-golfing activities. Five golf courses will remain within the
borough and additional community golf use provisions have been negotiated with
Crews Hill Golf Course and Enfield Golf Course. The proposed change of use of
part of the golf course to parkland will create an increased usable free green and
open space for all members of the public.
As part of the proposals planning processes, there will be the usual statutory
consultation period where the local community will have the opportunity to comment.

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 231

Under the proposed changes to the site, WPGC staff will be affected by the
decision. The Council will ensure that it complies with its obligations under the
Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 in respect
of any staff who could potentially transfer to THL. Should TUPE not apply, a
separate restructuring report will be produced, and the Council’s Principles of
Managing Re-organisations will be applied. This would include consultation with
staff and trade unions in accordance with statutory regulations and Council
guidelines. If redeployment proves unsuccessful, a redundancy payment and early
retirement benefits will be payable as appropriate to eligible employees in
accordance with the Council’s current policy.

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 232

SECTION 3 – Equality Analysis
This section asks you to consider the potential differential impact of the proposed
decision or change on different protected characteristics, and what mitigating actions
should be taken to avoid or counteract any negative impact.
According to the Equality Act 2010, protected characteristics are aspects of a
person’s identity that make them who they are. The law defines 9 protected
characteristics:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

Age
Disability
Gender reassignment.
Marriage and civil partnership.
Pregnancy and maternity.
Race
Religion or belief.
Sex
Sexual orientation.

At Enfield Council, we also consider socio-economic status as an additional
characteristic.
“Differential impact” means that people of a particular protected characteristic (eg
people of a particular age, people with a disability, people of a particular gender, or
people from a particular race and religion) will be significantly more affected by the
change than other groups. Please consider both potential positive and negative
impacts, and, where possible, provide evidence to explain why this group might be
particularly affected. If there is no differential impact for that group, briefly explain
why this is not applicable.
Please consider how the proposed change will affect staff, service users or members
of the wider community who share one of the following protected characteristics.

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 233

Age
This can refer to people of a specific age e.g. 18-year olds, or age range e.g. 0-18 year
olds.

Will the proposed change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact
[positive or negative] on people of a specific age or age group (e.g. older or
younger people)?
Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.
No anticipated impact on this protected characteristic
Mitigating actions to be taken

Disability
A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a
substantial and long-term adverse effect on the person’s ability to carry out normal dayday activities.
This could include:
Physical impairment, hearing impairment, visual impairment, learning difficulties, longstanding illness or health condition, mental illness, substance abuse or other impairments.

Will the proposed change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact
[positive or negative] on people with disabilities?
Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.
The proposal will ensure that improvements to infrastructure to provide
accessibility to all residents.
Mitigating actions to be taken
Accessibility to be considered at the design stage of improvement works, including
wheelchair accessible paths and sensory elements for visually impaired.

Gender Reassignment
This refers to people who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have undergone a
process (or part of a process) to reassign their sex by changing physiological or other
attributes of sex.

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 234

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on transgender people?
Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.
No anticipated impact on this protected characteristic
Mitigating actions to be taken

Marriage and Civil Partnership
Marriage and civil partnerships are different ways of legally recognising relationships. The
formation of a civil partnership must remain secular, where-as a marriage can be
conducted through either religious or civil ceremonies. In the U.K both marriages and civil
partnerships can be same sex or mixed sex. Civil partners must be treated the same as
married couples on a wide range of legal matters.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on people in a marriage or civil partnership?
Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected
No anticipated impact on this protected characteristic
Mitigating actions to be taken

Pregnancy and maternity
Pregnancy refers to the condition of being pregnant or expecting a baby. Maternity refers
to the period after the birth and is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In
the non-work context, protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after
giving birth, and this includes treating a woman unfavourably because she is
breastfeeding.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on pregnancy and maternity?
Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected
No anticipated impact on this protected characteristic
EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 235

Mitigating actions to be taken

Race
This refers to a group of people defined by their race, colour, and nationality (including
citizenship), ethnic or national origins.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on people of a certain race?
Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected
Some of the most acute effects of deprivation are felt by black and minority ethnic
communities living on a low income in urban areas. The poor quality of their
local environment has a considerable impact on their health and wellbeing.
Improving access to green spaces is likely to have a positive impact on the health
and wellbeing on the grounds of race.
Mitigating actions to be taken
None

Religion and belief
Religion refers to a person’s faith (e.g. Buddhism, Islam, Christianity, Judaism, Sikhism,
Hinduism). Belief includes religious and philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (e.g.
Atheism). Generally, a belief should affect your life choices or the way you live.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on people who follow a religion or belief, including lack of belief?
Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.
No anticipated impact on this protected characteristic

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 236

Mitigating actions to be taken

Sex
Sex refers to whether you are a man or woman.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on men or women?
Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.
THL wish to develop a women’s football academy to sustain the growth in
women’s football, with a regionally significant facility that is dedicated to the
development of women and girls’ football from grassroots level – the two
components feeding off one another. The facility would be the first of its
kind in the UK and would be inspirational facility for female participation
in sport.
The proposed Women’s Football Academy will create a positive impact on
women, by developing female football talent from U10 level, through U16 and
U18 levels up to development squad (reserve team) level.
In addition to the development of academy talent, the facility will also enable the
development of female grassroots football through a variety of THL and FA
programmes, such as SSE Wildcats (age 5-11); Mini Soccer Teams (7-10);
Youth Teams (11-16); FA Mars Just Play (16+); Soccercise (16+); 5s (16+); and
Women’s Walking Football (16+).
Mitigating actions to be taken
No action to be taken

Sexual Orientation
This refers to whether a person is sexually attracted to people of the same sex or a
different sex to themselves. Please consider the impact on people who identify as
heterosexual, bisexual, gay, lesbian, non-binary or asexual.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on people with a particular sexual orientation?

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 237

Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.
No anticipated impact on this protected characteristic

Mitigating actions to be taken

Socio-economic deprivation
This refers to people who are disadvantaged due to socio-economic factors e.g.
unemployment, low income, low academic qualifications or living in a deprived area, social
housing or unstable housing.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on people who are socio-economically disadvantaged?
Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.
No anticipated impact on this protected characteristic
Mitigating actions to be taken.

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 238

SECTION 4 – Monitoring and Review
How do you intend to monitor and review the effects of this proposal?
Who will be responsible for assessing the effects of this proposal?
Lease will be managed by Strategic Property Service and any requirements will managed
through the usual lease management procedures.

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 239

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Page 240

SECTION 5 – Action Plan for Mitigating Actions.
Identified
Issue

Action Required

Lead
officer

EqIA template approved by EMT 16th June 2020

Timescale/By
When

Costs

Review
Date/Comments

Page 241

Agenda Item 4

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
18th November 2021
RESPONSE TO REASONS FOR CALL IN
TITLE OF DECISION: Leasing of Whitewebbs Park Golf Course
DECISION OF: Leader of the Council
DATE OF DECISION LIST PUBLICATION: 22 October 2021
LIST NO: 30/21-22 KD 5177
Reasons why decision is being called in:
Lack of consultation
There has been a total lack of Stakeholder consultation. Residents and site users
have been consistent in their opposition to these plans. There have been protests,
petitions and detailed submissions. Stakeholders were promised sight of the final
bids as part of the engagement process, this has not happened.
Response
The Council agreed to engage with Stakeholders and to provide details of the bids
prior to a decision being made. There was no promise made to provide copies of the
bids which are subject to commercial confidentiality. This has happened and all
groups who requested engagement were advised in advance of the decision-making
process and provided with details of the bids.
Delegated authority
Point 3 – “To delegate authority to the Director of Property & Economy in
consultation with the Director of Legal and Governance to make minor amendments
to the heads of terms and to finalise the Agreement for Lease, Lease and associated
documents, including such variations that may be necessary to cover existing thirdparty rights affecting the site.” There are no details in the report of what might be
covered by this statement, what would be considered a minor adjustment and what
would be a major one?
Response
The Lease will not be entered into unless and until planning consent is granted. The
outcome of the consultation around that submission and the planning decision itself
may result in the need to make minor amendments to the Heads of Terms. It is not
possible to prejudge the outcome of that process. Any significant changes to the site

Page 242

boundary, financial offer, lease length or use of the site would be considered major
changes.
Local economy and employment
Point 17- “potentially create a boost to the local economy and local employment.”
Why only potentially if they are having an academy for grounds staff. Should they
not, like other sites, be pushed towards employing local people.
Response
The council will encourage local employment and this will be a matter to be covered
in landlord negotiations and also through planning conditions.
Greenbelt Protection
Point 18 - The property’s location in the Green Belt provides significant protection
against inappropriate development. The existing Tottenham Hotspur site sits entirely
in Greenbelt and has been extended and amended over the years with inappropriate
development.
Response
The appropriateness of this proposal on green belt land will be a matter for
consideration by planning committee in accordance with planning policy. No lease
will be entered in to unless and until planning consent is granted. This decision has
no bearing on or relation to the existing land leased and owned by Tottenham
Hotspur.
Variety of Activity
Point 28 - Paragraph 3 states “Range of activities - There are already a range of
existing leisure uses at the property, predominantly with the pay and play golf
course. LBE is seeking a tenant who provides a business plan that incorporates a
range of activities. Some potential activities suggested by the local community are
included later in this documentation. Within the leisure proposals, LBE require
applicants to demonstrate how the proposed activities will be open to a range of
users.” This proposal focusses only on one activity – football and furthermore it will
be a single sex provision.
Response
As set out in the report the football academy is just one part of the proposal. The
report sets out details of the range of activities that will be available.
The provision of a Women’s and Girls Academy helps address the significant deficit
in provision of facilities for this group both locally and nationally.
Poor financial offering

Page 243

Only 35% of the scoring of bids related to the rent or premium offered. Yet,
repeatedly financial implications have been cited as the main driver for looking to
lease out the site. This proposal will only deliver an initial premium of £500,000
followed by an annual rental from year 6-25 of £75,000 per annum. I note the rent
will be reviewed every 5 years against CPI, however the total rent received will only
be circa £2,000,000 for the whole 25 year period. This is hugely undervaluing the
site. Furthermore, the proposal doesn’t specifically say that the up-front money is
ring fenced for improvements to Whitewebbs
Response
The Council has been clear throughout that it would assess bids against a range of
criteria and would not simply lease the site to the highest bidder. Stakeholders and
the public have sought reassurance that this would be the case.
Higher bids were received but as detailed in the report these did not score as highly
against all criteria.
The report states ‘The award of the lease will generate a capital sum for investment
in the park.’
Impact on Covid-19 on the bidding process
Bids were accepted in March 2020, scoring undertaken on 16th March 2020, with the
intention of a preferred bidder being announced in April 2020. By the councils own
admission the announcement was delayed by more than a year due to the impact of
the pandemic. In this period the economy and the retail, hospitality and leisure
industry has changed. The report does not address this in any way.
Response
All bidders were invited, after the pandemic began, to advise whether they wished to
proceed with or amend their bids. One bid was withdrawn. This is addressed in the
report.
Golf Course closed before the season so there are no contemporary financials
The decision making has taken place referencing pre-pandemic financials for the golf
course. The golf course was closed prior to the lifting of restrictions earlier this year.
Since restrictions have been lifted golf has seen a boom in popularity, this will
fundamentally have changed the financial prospects of the golf course. For this
reason, it is inappropriate for now out of date financial results to guide decision
making.
Response
The decision to close the course was a separate decision which was subject to a call
in.

Page 244

Natural rewilding so stated costs are no longer valid
Since the golf course has been closed the site has re-wilded itself and the council is
no long incurring the maintenance costs used as justification for leasing it out.
Therefore, the bidding and decision-making process used for this report is
fundamentally unsound.
Response
Simply leaving the area to rewild naturally is likely to result in an impenetrable area
of shrubland. This summer we received several complaints that the area could not
easily be accessed for dog walking, walking and running and in response to this,
pathways were cut through the grassland.
Without investment new paths and bridleways will not be created and a permanent
café and toilets will not be provided. Without on going maintenance existing paths
and bridleways, access roads and parking areas will deteriorate. It is not correct to
state that leaving the site alone will not incur maintenance costs.
Reduced public access
Marketing of Whitewebbs Public Golf Course (WPGC) - point 28 paragraph 1 –
London Borough of Enfield (LBE) seeking a proposal that will, at a minimum, retain
this level of public access. This is clearly not the case as areas of the park that are
currently open to public access are planned to be turned into a private training
facility. Documents use the term “Golf Course” and “Golf Club” interchangeably. This
gives the impression that the area could only be accessed by club members, this is
fundamentally not the case. The course was used by thousands of people on a nonmembership basis and also for non-golf related activity e.g. running and dog walking.
Response
Prior to the closure of the course full access was limited to those who paid. Access
for running, walking or similar was restricted to public footpaths and other rights of
way. The proposal significantly increases they area to which the public will have
unrestricted free access. This is clearly set out in the decision report.
Lack of pedigree for managing facilities
Tottenham Hotspur were given the maximum possible score for leisure experience.
However, a large proportion of the plan involves woods and parklands. Tottenham
Hotspur have minimal experience managing woods and parklands, therefore it is
difficult to understand how they received the maximum score. In addition
Tottenham’s most recent development, ‘The Tottenham Hotspur Stadium’ suffered
from huge delays and cost overruns.
Response
THF were the highest scorer in this category. The criteria and assessment method
have been clearly set out through the bidding process.
Issues regarding the development of a football stadium are unrelated.

Page 245

No detail of community access
In several sections of the bid community access to the new facilities has been
referenced, but this is not defined.
Response
This will be a matter for consideration through the planning process and will be
covered by planning conditions. A Lease will not be granted unless and until
planning consent is granted.
Environmental Impact
Lots of information on improvements, but nothing on exactly what work is needed to
put in fencing, artificial and grass pitches. Will there be importation of soil, will there
be a need for parking and paths on site such as hard surfaces. If so, this should be
included in environmental impact.
Point 80 – “In order for the proposed football academy to obtain planning permission,
under current adopted planning policies an application will be expected to
demonstrate that the proposal has a minimal environmental impact, in both
construction and operational stages.” What standard constitutes ‘minimal
environmental impact’? This should be defined.
Response
This will be a matter for consideration through the planning process. A Lease will not
be granted unless and until planning consent is granted.
Poor history of honoring commitments with the Council
Enfield is still waiting for nature reserve which was in their original training ground
planning application. How can we be sure that all the work they are saying they
would do will actually be undertaken?
Response
The nature reserve is the subject of a separate planning conditions and obligation.
Tottenham Hotspur are currently working to discharge the pre-commencement
conditions which would enable them to start on the nature reserve.
This proposal will be subject to both leasing requirements and planning obligations.
Equality
The plan states that a women’s football academy is of benefit to all. However, the
plans provide no benefits for boys and men. It is also not clear how it benefits the
residents of Enfield as beneficiaries will be draw from a wide geographical area.
Response

Page 246

The Equalities Impact Assessment clearly sets out the benefits for Women & Girls.
Men and Boys are already well catered for by existing similar facilities nearby and
more widely across the borough.
Residents of Enfield will benefit from investment in the rest of Whitewebbs Park and
investment in grass roots sports across the borough as set out in the report.
Conflict of interest
On three occasions in the last two years Members of the Council have received
hospitality from Tottenham Hotspur Football Club. The Leader – Cllr Caliskan had
lunch at the training ground on 13th February 2020 and 6 days later accepted match
tickets. This gift was accepted just 17 days before the deadline (2nd March 2020) for
bidders to make final submissions.
Response
All gifts and hospitalities are reported on the Council Website and these items have
been declared by Councillor Caliskan.

